The author(s) shown below used Federal funds provided by the U.S. Department of Justice and prepared the following final report:

Document Title:	Utility of Whole-Body Computed Tomography Imaging in Post Mortem Detection of Elder Abuse and Neglect: Comparison with and Potential Substitution for Standard Autopsy
Author:	Barry Daly M.D., F.R.C.R., David R. Fowler, M.D.
Document No.:	237613
Date Received:	February 2012
Award Number:	2007-DN-BX-0007

This report has not been published by the U.S. Department of Justice. To provide better customer service, NCJRS has made this Federallyfunded grant final report available electronically in addition to traditional paper copies.

> Opinions or points of view expressed are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the official position or policies of the U.S. Department of Justice.

Utility of Whole-Body Computed Tomography Imaging in Post Mortem Detection of Elder Abuse and Neglect: Comparison with and Potential Substitution for Standard Autopsy

Final Report

December 14, 2011

Authors:

Barry Daly, MD–Principal Investigator Professor, Department of Diagnostic Radiology and Nuclear Medicine University of Maryland School of Medicine 22 S. Greene St. Baltimore, MD 21201 Phone: 410-328-1285 Fax: 410-328-0641 E-mail: bdaly@umm.edu

David R. Fowler, MD Chief Medical Examiner, State of Maryland Office of the Chief Medical Examiner 900 W. Baltimore St. Baltimore, MD 21201 Phone: 410-333-3225 E-mail: ocmemd@aol.com

Bios: Barry Daly, MD, is a professor and vice chair for research in the Department of Diagnostic Radiology and Nuclear Medicine at the University of Maryland School of Medicine. He heads the department's developing program in forensic imaging. David R. Fowler, MD, is chief medical examiner for the state of Maryland. An assistant professor of pathology and of pediatrics at the University of Maryland School of Medicine at Baltimore, he is on the faculty of the National Study Center for Trauma and Emergency Medical Services.

This project was supported by Grant No. 2007-DN-BX-0007 awarded by the National Institute of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice. Points of view in this document are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of the US Department of Justice.

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Executive Summary	5
I. Introduction	
I.1. Statement of the Problem	
I.2 Additional Literature Citations and Review	
I.3 Statement of Hypothesis, Aims, and Goals	23
II. Methods	
II.1 Preliminary Studies	
II.2 Research Design	27
Study Group and Selection	27
Study Sites	28
Exemption for Use of Human Bodies in Medical Research/	
Privacy Issues	28
Phase I Methods, Procedures, and Materials	29
Phase II Methods, Procedures, and Materials	
Phase III Methods, Procedures, and Materials	32
Statistical Methods	34
Variation in Methodology for Phases I and II	35
III. Results	
III.1 Statement of Results	
III.2 Limitations	
IV. Conclusions	50
IV.1 Discussion of Findings	
IV.2 Implications for Policy and Practice	53
IV.3 Implications for Further Research	59
V. References	62
VI. Appendices	73

Abstract

Purpose: Physical abuse as a contributing factor in the death of an elderly individual is difficult to exclude without a full conventional autopsy, even when allegations of abuse are focused on nonphysical issues. We investigated the potential for use of whole-body post mortem computed tomography (PMCT) as a triage tool to determine the need for conventional autopsy, based on detection of injuries suggestive of physical abuse and/or evidence suggestive of neglect.

Methods: This prospective study included 58 decedents (14 men, 44 women; mean age, 76 years, range 52–93 years), all of whom were referred to the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner for the State of Maryland following allegations of elder abuse. Each case underwent PMCT imaging and subsequent conventional autopsy within 24 hours after death. PMCT imaging results were interpreted by two radiologists with consensus readings. Conventional autopsy studies were performed and interpreted by state medical examiners. Interpretation of PMCT studies was made by radiologists without knowledge of the results of conventional autopsy, and the medical examiners were likewise unaware of the results of PMCT imaging. Sensitivity of PMCT for injuries suspicious for abuse, evidence of potential neglect, and other related findings were determined with conventional autopsy results serving as the standard of reference.

Results: PMCT agreed with conventional autopsy on the presence or absence of elder abuse in 100 percent of cases (evidence suggestive of elder abuse in one case, absence of evidence for elder abuse in 57 cases). In the single case suggestive of elder abuse, PMCT demonstrated multiple unreported fractures of varying ages. Other notable findings were acute rib fractures with patterns consistent with cardiopulmonary resuscitation etiology in 21 (36 percent) of decedents. These were detected on PMCT in 20/21 and on autopsy in 11/21 cases. Other

3

musculoskeletal pathology overlooked at PMCT included a cervical and rib fracture and at autopsy included a cervical spine, hip, clavicle, and two sternal fractures. PMCT missed superficial decubitus ulcers in 9/17 cases but was more accurate than autopsy for characterization of deeper stage 4 ulcers with osteomyelitis or abscess complications. Cause of death was determined by conventional autopsy in all 58 cases but by PMCT in only 24 (41 percent) cases. PMCT was unable to detect vascular pathologies and less reliable than autopsy for detection of soft tissue pathologies, especially where the lesions were small. These included cerebral infarction, intracranial hemorrhage, pulmonary lesions, and tumors, with sensitivities of 0–50 percent.

Conclusion: PMCT was reliable for detection or exclusion of skeletal injuries suspicious for elder abuse. In correlation with clinical history, scene investigation, toxicology and external examination, PMCT may be used as a triage tool to determine the need for conventional autopsy in such cases. Superficial decubitus ulcerations are not detectable on PMCT studies but were easily detected on external examination of the skin either as part of external examination or a conventional autopsy. Deep decubitus ulcers and associated abscesses suggestive of neglect are more accurately characterized by PMCT than conventional autopsy. PMCT was unreliable for detection of vascular or soft tissue pathologies compared with autopsy. Determination of the cause of death was not a goal for PMCT in this study and, as expected, was not reliable for this purpose.

Executive Summary

Statement of the Problem

Reports of abuse and neglect of elderly individuals in residential care or within their own home have escalated along with the increasing number of older individuals in the United States (1-3). Authoritative researchers suggest that up to 10 percent of individuals over the age of 65 years will be victims of abuse or neglect and that approximately 80 percent of incidents of abuse will go unreported either before or after death (4). Physical, psychological, and financial abuses of the elderly have been explored in detail in the medical and legal literature (5-12). The literature is particularly rich with descriptions of screening strategies that physicians, nurses, and others can adopt for the systematic detection and reporting of abuse or risk of abuse in elder patients in nursing home and other long-term care (13-29). Yet identification of all but the most egregious incidents remains a challenge to physicians, social workers, and those charged with ensuring compliance with local, state, and federal regulations covering appropriate care (30-42).

Increasing public awareness of cases of abuse and neglect has created an atmosphere of suspicion in which many families fear the worst when loved ones die in nursing homes and other institutional long-term care settings (55). Law enforcement, legislative, and advocacy groups, too, are lobbying for routine autopsy of elders to discover possible elder abuse and homicide (56,57). The result is growing pressure on medical examiners to perform complete autopsies in decedents who would once have received simple visual inspection and death certificates (58–60). Elder individuals who die in hospitals are less and less likely to receive autopsies, as hospital autopsy rates continue to decline (61). Fewer than 1 percent of all nursing home deaths are currently autopsied in the United States (47), at a time when many medical examiners' offices

are already stretched to and beyond capacity in managing workloads (62–65). Most medical examiners are ill equipped to handle the workloads that even a modest percentage increase in elder autopsies would require.

The significant challenge for medical examiners and their partners in the medical and legal communities is to identify cost- and time-effective methods for the identification of elder abuse and neglect that will provide reliable, validated information in cases of abuse and neglect, that can rule out suspicion of abuse or neglect in negative cases, and that can provide verifiable evidence to support the pursuit of justice. Such a test or tests also should ideally identify general and validated "markers" of elder abuse and neglect and offer a feasible, reproducible approach that streamlines and enhances assessment of elder decedents in whom abuse and neglect are suspected.

The current situation, then, is one in which the crime of elder abuse contributing to death is considered difficult to exclude without a full conventional autopsy, even when allegations of abuse may be of indeterminate reliability or are limited to nonphysical complaints. A full autopsy is a time consuming and expensive procedure. In the setting of limited capacity for expansion, the already overextended and understaffed medical examiner system is ill prepared to undertake even more such procedures.

Purpose

The purposes of this study were: (a) to determine the sensitivity of whole-body post mortem computed tomography (PMCT) for detection of injuries suggestive of physical abuse and/or neglect in deceased elders who were referred for investigation to the Maryland Office of the Chief Medical Examiner (OCME); and (b) to investigate the potential for use of PMCT as a triage tool to determine the need for conventional autopsy, based on detection of injuries suggestive of physical abuse and/or neglect and on information from other components of the medical examiners' routine initial investigations and assessment, including medical and police reports, external body examination, and toxicology studies. We also investigated whether PMCT was reliable for detection and characterization of decubitus ulcerations, with particular emphasis on the ability to characterize the severity of deep ulcerations that may be complicated by infectious involvement of underlying bone structures or abscess formation. Such deep ulcers and underlying bone infection (osteomyelitis) are findings that are suggestive of severe physical neglect that may also be associated with elder abuse.

Research design

The study was performed as a partnership between an academic radiology department and a state medical examiner's office. The study was prospective in nature and included the bodies of 58 decedents (14 men, women; mean age 76 years, range 52–93 years) in which allegations of elder abuse had been made by family members, caregivers, police, or physicians. Each body underwent whole-body PMCT imaging and subsequent conventional autopsy by state medical examiners within 24 hours after death. PMCT imaging results were interpreted with consensus readings by two radiologists with 3–24 months experience in forensic imaging. Conventional autopsy studies were performed and interpreted by state forensic medical examiners and included full medical and police reports, external body examinations, and toxicology studies. Performance and interpretation of PMCT studies were made by radiologists without knowledge of the results of conventional autopsy, and the medical examiners were likewise unaware of the results of PMCT imaging. Sensitivity of PMCT for injuries suspicious for abuse, evidence of potential neglect, and other major findings was determined with conventional autopsy considered as the standard of reference.

Key Findings

PMCT agreed with conventional autopsy on the presence or absence of elder abuse in 100 percent of cases (evidence of elder abuse in one case, absence of evidence of elder abuse in 57 cases). In the single case considered to be the result of elder abuse, PMCT demonstrated multiple unreported fractures of varying ages. PMCT identified decubitus ulcers possibly associated with neglect or abuse in 9 of 17 decedents with such findings. In three decubitus ulcer cases, deep ulcers with associated osteomyelitis or abscesses seen on PMCT were not detected at conventional autopsy. PMCT was insensitive for 8 cases with superficial decubitus ulcers. Other notable findings on PMCT were acute bilateral upper rib fractures consistent with known attempted cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), seen in 20 of 21 such cases. Eleven of these 21 were overlooked at autopsy. Other fractures typical for accidental trauma (hip, cervical, clavicular, and 2 sternal fractures).were noted on PMCT in five decedents. These findings were overlooked on conventional autopsy. Conversely, PMCT failed to detect two fractures (cervical spine and rib) identified on conventional autopsy. Cause of death determination was made by PMCT in 24 of 58 (41 percent) and by conventional autopsy in all 58 cases. PMCT was insensitive for detection of natural vascular pathologies and less reliable for detection of cerebral infarction, intracranial hemorrhage, pulmonary lesions, and tumors.

The sensitivity of whole-body PMCT compared with autopsy for a range of vascular and soft tissue findings was poor and ranged from 0 to 50 percent. These findings overlooked at PMCT included eight small foci of subdural or subarachnoid hemorrhage, seven small areas of cerebral infarction, and two tumors (lung and gastric carcinoma).

Conclusions

PMCT appears to be reliable for detection or exclusion of skeletal injuries suspicious for elder abuse and, in correlation with clinical history, toxicology, and external examination, may be used to determine the need for additional investigation with conventional autopsy in the presence of allegations and/or suspicion of abuse. However, the single case positive for findings suggestive of elder abuse in this study (one of a total of 58) is a limiting factor. Deep decubitus ulcers and associated abscess or osteomyelitis suggestive of neglect are more accurately detected by PMCT than by conventional autopsy. Superficial decubitus ulcerations are not detectable on PMCT studies but were easily detected on external examination of the skin or as part of a conventional autopsy. Acute upper anterior bilateral rib fractures were more reliably detected on PMCT than at autopsy. This fracture pattern was unexpectedly seen in all decedents who underwent full CPR procedures and was likely related to the high prevalence of brittle osteoporotic bone in this elderly study population. Full autopsy, including medical and police reports, external body examination, and toxicology studies, was much more reliable for determination of cause of death than PMCT in this decedent group. This is an expected result given the well-recognized limitations and lack of sensitivity of CT for cardiovascular and malignant disease when performed without the increased sensitivity provided by intravenous and oral contrast, techniques routinely employed for CT examinations in the living. Subtle intracranial lesions, such as small infarcts or bleeding detectable at autopsy, may be undetectable on nonenhanced PMCT. The natural process of lung collapse after death also makes evaluation of pulmonary pathology on PMCT difficult.

Current practice in the Maryland OCME and Implications for Future Practice

After an analysis of the findings in this study, the Chief Medical Examiner (CME) for the State of Maryland has decided to continue the current institutional policy which includes performance of a PMCT study followed by full autopsy in all suspected cases of elder abuse or neglect. Despite the positive outcome of this study with respect to the sensitivity of PMCT for presence or absence of skeletal injuries suspicious for elder abuse, the very limited number of positive cases encountered has restricted the experience gained from the project, if not the conclusions that may be drawn with respect to clinical practice. David Fowler, MD, the Maryland CME believes that more experience should be gained with positive cases of elder abuse before the routine introduction of PMCT as a triage tool. The Maryland OCME is well positioned to introduce this process, because the facility now has a CT scanner installation on site suitable for all PMCT studies. After increased experience and familiarity with PMCT and continued demonstration of a high sensitivity in detection of suspicious injuries and/or evidence of neglect, it is considered very likely that this change will occur within the next year. This additional research will be the subject of an addendum to the current report. It is also expected that this additional time period will allow the accumulation of wider and deeper experience in forensic imaging among both the medical examiner staff and consulting radiologists at the University of Maryland School of Medicine, leading to improved sensitivity of PMCT studies for the entire spectrum of findings encountered in this cohort of 58 decedents.

Implications for Future Nationwide Policy

Global policy and practice implications of the successful completion of this evaluation of whole-body CT imaging in post mortem assessment can be seen in 2 distinct spheres of activity: (a) medical examiners' activities (including forensic radiologists' contributions); and (b) law enforcement and justice activities associated with identification and prosecution of elder abuse and neglect. Implications for each of these groups are discussed here. **Medical Examiners' Activities.** For medical examiners facing an escalating demand to investigate cause of death in elderly individuals, one of the most promising benefits suggested by these results is that of greater efficiency, supported by compelling visual evidence. This is of considerable relevance in a setting in which authoritative publications estimate the prevalence of elder abuse at between 2 and 20 percent, based on various sampling, survey methods, and case definitions (4). Moreover, public exposure of cases of abuse and neglect has created an atmosphere of suspicion in which many families fear the worst when loved ones die in nursing homes and other institutional long-term care settings (). Law enforcement, legislative, and advocacy groups, too, are lobbying for routine autopsy to discover possible elder abuse and homicide (56, 57).

As anticipated, the finding in whole-body CT imaging of most decedents was "negative"; that is, no evidence of abuse or neglect was found by CT. Every case of negative findings on CT was substantiated with corresponding findings on conventional autopsy, leading us to suggest that routine imaging of elder individuals may be proposed as a method for avoiding complete autopsy in more than 2/3 or more of elder decedents in whom abuse and neglect are suspected. Using this whole-body CT protocol, the medical examiner's decision not to proceed to complete autopsy would be supported by detailed images interpreted by specialist board-certified physicians, ruling out fractures, internal bleeding, and other common findings in abuse and neglect. The acceptance of a written policy and protocol for eliminating the need for complete autopsy (but including, of course, visual inspection, toxicology studies, and other tests at the medical examiner's discretion) would not only have implications for cost efficiency and more timely processing of the overall medical examiner workload but would carry compassionate benefits for those families who, for religious or cultural reasons, are reluctant to

have decedent relatives undergo invasive autopsy procedures. In those decedents in whom CT findings indicate evidence of abuse or neglect, these findings may serve to direct and expedite the medical examiner's performance of autopsy and the compilation of a complete report that will be supported by novel visual evidence.

The need to train additional radiologists (and forensic pathologists) nationally in the subspecialty of forensic imaging is an imperative for further growth. The experience and lessons learned from this study also will provide a template for dissemination of information about this topic, both through planned publication of manuscripts in appropriate forensic and radiology journals and through existing forensic medicine and innovative forensic imaging educational programs at the Maryland OCME, which are currently scheduled for the spring and fall of 2012.

Nationwide there is considerable interest in the outcome of this study, as evidenced by feedback from medical examiners attending the annual conference of the National Association of Medical Examiners (NAME), at which the final results of the study were presented in August 2011. The results did not produce unexpected findings, other than the high rate of rib fractures seen in decedents following attempted CPR and the clear advantage of PMCT over autopsy in that setting. Attendees volunteered that if PMCT were available at their offices, they would definitely use it for suspected elder abuse. Elder abuse should now become one of the accepted list of indications for PMCT; however, it must be acknowledged that the number of medical examiners facilities in which PMCT is available remains quite small. Several medical examiners at the NAME meeting pointed out that the presence of deep (stage 3–4) decubitus ulcers may of themselves be evidence for criminal neglect in a health care facility (53) and that PMCT offers excellent pictorial evidence.

This study should also be seen in the context of the broader potential of PMCT for investigation of accidental and non-accidental death by medical examiners: elder abuse is one of many potential indications, including but not limited to suspected homicide from blunt or penetrating trauma, child abuse, drowning, burns, unidentified remains, and indeterminate causes of death. In such situations high-resolution 3D imaging may have a valuable role in forensic work. As medical examiners become more familiar with the value of PMCT it is likely that more jurisdictions will acquire CT equipment to assist in forensic diagnosis (143), possibly on a regional basis, given the small size of many medical examiners offices. Although such a situation is unlikely to evolve in the immediate future, the recommendations to modernize death investigation outlined in the 2009 Institute of Medicine report on forensic science in the United States, strongly support updating the technological basis for forensic investigation over the next decade.

While the kind of detailed information that would inform a comparison of the relative costs of PMCT and autopsy is not readily available, the potential economic impact of introducing PMCT into forensic practice should be given appropriate consideration. Autopsy examinations are usually funded by local county, city or state jurisdictions in the setting of a medical examiners or coroners investigation and the actual costs of the autopsy procedure are not routinely separated out from other necessary expenses for such services. However the cost of a private autopsy performed at the request of a decedent's family has been noted to lie in the \$2,000-4,000 range. Other anecdotal information has put the cost of autopsy as between \$1,000 and \$2,000. By comparison, the total cost of PMCT at the University of Maryland Medical Center is \$600, comprising \$500 for performance of the scan and \$100 for its interpretation by the radiologist. Assuming this figure quoted at our institution is extrapolated to other centers,

PMCT appears to be a cost-effective alternative to autopsy, even when the lowermost figure of \$1,000 for autopsy quoted above is considered to be the most accurate. It must be borne in mind that the use of PMCT as a triage tool implies that an undetermined percentage of decedents with positive PMCT findings will proceed to full autopsy, potentially increasing the overall costs of investigation. However, the low percentage of suspicious cases on PMCT noted in our study suggests that this is unlikely to be a realistic concern. Regarding the time efficiency of PMCT, the duration of the scan itself should be no more than 10-15 minutes on any CT scanner machine capable of doing whole body examinations. 3-dimensional image generation and interpretation by a moderately experienced radiologist should require no more than 30 minutes. Therefore the entire PMCT study and interpretation should be completed routinely in less than one hour, and should logistically fit well with the current timeframe for the medical examiners death investigations.

Law Enforcement and Successful Prosecution

Both negative and positive post mortem imaging findings have implications and benefits for law enforcement and successful prosecution of perpetrators of elder abuse and neglect. Positive findings provide clear visual evidence, easily understood by legal authorities and increasingly expected by juries, of the commission of a crime. Moreover, such imaging provides additional information about each type of injury; for example, the angle at which such an injury was inflicted, the presence and likely age of past injuries, and other pertinent data. Negative findings (i.e., the findings of no evident abuse on CT) may serve a useful purpose in assisting law enforcement authorities in convincing grieving families and friends that no abuse has occurred. As indicated in our study, significant number of autopsies requested by families and friends, particularly when the decedent was in institutional or third-party care prior to death, are found to be negative for signs of physical abuse and/or neglect. The establishment of a rapid and widely accepted imaging method for ruling out physical abuse can be beneficial to grieving families, to medical examiners, and to law enforcement agents who handle complaints of suspected abuse.

Unexpected Implications for Elder Care

The results of this study make it clear that routine whole-body CT imaging has the potential to provide ongoing and novel insights into evidence of abuse and neglect that can have direct implications for clinical practice. Findings on location, age, and frequency of fractures and findings of decubitus ulceration in our post mortem studies provide compelling visual reference examples for physicians caring for elder patients. Other findings, such as the startling fact that all individuals who underwent CPR suffered rib fractures, deserve not only further study and wider dissemination but focused discussion by the elder care community. Should CPR techniques in these patients be refined to minimize the possibility of fractures? Should caregivers and families balance the consequences of painful recovery from such fractures when considering decisions on future resuscitation? These findings point to the importance of continued partnerships in forensic imaging between practitioners in the hospital and medical examiners' offices. As such partnerships expand, it is likely that growing databases of exemplar cases and published studies on specific features will inform and enhance the knowledge base on elder abuse for both groups, and for the invested legal and social science communities.

MAIN BODY OF REPORT

I. Introduction

A significant challenge for medical examiners and their partners in the medical and legal communities is to identify cost- and time-effective methods for identification of elder abuse and neglect that will: (a) yield proximal results in providing reliable, validated information in cases of abuse and neglect, that can rule out suspicion of abuse or neglect, and that can provide verifiable evidence to support the pursuit of justice; and (b) provide distal results in identifying general and validated "markers" of elder abuse and neglect and offer a feasible, reproducible approach that streamlines and enhances assessment of elder decedents in whom abuse and neglect are suspected.

In 2007 we proposed a collaborative study to assess the utility of a noninvasive medical imaging protocol using multislice computed tomography (CT) imaging to provide accurate, rapidly available information to aid medical examiners in the detection or exclusion of abuse and/or neglect. Multislice CT imaging, interpreted by experienced radiologists, had sufficiently advanced to suggest the potential for rapid assessment of a range of markers for abuse and neglect, as well as datasets of scientific and legal evidence, that might complement, expedite, or, in many cases, rule out the need for complete autopsy. The exploration and refinement of a replicable protocol for elder abuse and neglect showed promise to provide far-reaching results that could respond to the specific challenges involved in routine "virtual autopsy" imaging of older decedents.

I.1. Statement of the Problem

Reports of abuse and neglect of elderly individuals in residential care or within their own home have escalated along with the increasing number of older individuals in the United States (1-3). Authoritative researchers suggest that up to 10 percent of individuals over the age of 65 years will be victims of abuse or neglect and that approximately 80 percent of incidents of abuse will go unreported either before or after death (4). Physical, psychological, and financial abuses of the elderly have been explored in detail in the medical and legal literature (5-12). The literature is particularly rich with descriptions of screening strategies that physicians, nurses, and others can adopt for the systematic detection and reporting of abuse or risk of abuse in elder patients in institutional and long-term care (13-29). Yet identification of all but the most egregious incidents remains a challenge to physicians, social workers, and those charged with ensuring compliance with local, state, and federal regulations covering appropriate care (30-42). At the same time, the courts are redefining the nation's long-term care policies through the Olmstead Decree and other directives, requiring maximal community placement in the least restrictive environments, laudable quality-of-life efforts that nevertheless carry additional challenges for the identification and investigation of elder abuse and neglect.

Several authorities in this area of research, most notably those who have prepared formal reports for the National Institute of Justice (NIJ) and the National Academies, have observed that "the science, education, and clinical practice associated with elder abuse and neglect are 30 to 40 years behind those associated with other problems, such as child abuse and domestic violence" (2,3,43). Such a lag is also seen in the post mortem evaluation of abuse and neglect in elderly decedents, where a host of confounding physical and jurisdictional challenges may blur the lines between natural causes of death, homicide, neglect, and suicide (44-48). Among the many impediments to the pursuit of justice identified by researchers in these areas are: the lack of a scientific "gold standard" by which abuse and neglect can be judged in individuals who may already be or have been compromised by failing health and mental status, the lack of specific

sets of scientific "markers" that would point to neglect and abuse, and an atmosphere in which physicians and medical examiners who review deaths of elder individuals are not encouraged or supported in vigilance for signs of abuse (2,43,47).

Nursing home and long-term care deaths have been the focus of scientific studies, review articles, congressional investigations, and editorials that have focused attention on the range and types of common abuses (50-54). Public exposure of cases of abuse and neglect has created an atmosphere of suspicion in which many families fear the worst when loved ones die in nursing homes and other institutional long-term care settings (55). Law enforcement, legislative, and advocacy groups, too, are lobbying for routine autopsy to discover possible elder abuse and homicide (56,57). The result is growing pressure on medical examiners to perform complete autopsies in decedents who would once have received simple visual inspection and death certificates (58-60). Elder individuals who die in hospitals are less and less likely to receive autopsies, as hospital autopsy rates continue to decline (61). Fewer than 1 percent of all nursing home deaths are currently autopsied in the United States (47), at a time when many medical examiners' offices are already stretched to and beyond capacity in managing workloads (62-65). Most medical examiners are ill equipped to handle the workloads that even a modest percentage increase in elder autopsies would require.

The challenge for medical examiners and their partners in the medical and legal communities is to identify cost- and time-effective methods for the identification of elder abuse and neglect that can provide reliable, validated information in cases of abuse and neglect, that can rule out suspicion of abuse or neglect, and that can provide verifiable evidence to support the pursuit of justice. In addition, such efforts should provide more generalizable results in identifying general and validated "markers" of elder abuse and neglect and offer a feasible, reproducible approach that streamlines and enhances assessment of elder decedents in whom abuse and neglect are suspected.

Imaging-Assisted Autopsy

One potential approach to provide solutions to these challenges is the integration of more recent and sophisticated imaging techniques into routine post mortem examination protocols. Imaging is not a new addition to the armamentarium of investigative tools at the medical examiner's disposal. Among the first images acquired by physicians and experimenters after the announcement of Wilhelm Röntgen's discovery of the X-ray in 1895 were "roentgenographs" of cadavers (*66*). The first X-ray machine west of the Mississippi River was acquired in Kirksville, MO, expressly for the purpose of using images of cadavers to teach anatomy (*67,68*). Throughout the 20th century, radiologists worked with medical examiners to explore causes of death, provide evidence for trial and conviction, and offer expert testimony. These imaging investigations have covered all types of trauma and disease, all organ systems, the tiniest of fragmentary remains, and in some notable cases, have even uncovered crimes that were thousands of years old (*69–75*). These interactions also provided the field of radiology with advances based on research in an imaging population in which radiation burden and associated sequelae were not concerns.

Plain-film radiography and fluoroscopy, which for most of the 20th century were the only imaging modalities applied in post mortem imaging, also made the transition to many medical examiners offices, where staff were trained to look for fractures, foreign bodies, and other markers indicating causes of death. These approaches were and continue to be limited by the 2dimensional nature of plain-film imaging and the radiation risks associated with fluoroscopy. Nevertheless, radiographic evidence, obtained by medical examiner staff and supported at trial by expert physician testimony, has been and remains a mainstay in homicide and other death investigations and prosecution. Specific rules of law and evidence pertain to radiologic evidence, and these rules continue to evolve with changing technologies (76,77).

With the advent of CT in the 1970s and wide availability by the 1980s, a new tool was available. It was almost immediately applied to forensic imaging, where multiple views provided new perspectives on injury and disease (78–80). Today, the ability of CT to reveal the inside of both living and dead bodies has been exponentially expanded by the introduction of multislice CT technologies.

Multislice CT imaging, interpreted by experienced radiologists, holds the potential to provide rapid assessment of a range of markers for abuse and neglect, as well as datasets of scientific and legal evidence, that can complement, expedite, or, in many cases, rule out the need for complete autopsy. The technique has already been extensively investigated in a range of cause-of-death investigations in nonelderly populations by investigators in Switzerland (*81–89*). In the United States, only a few groups have initiated such investigations, most notably the group at the Armed Forces Institute of Pathology, which has worked with post mortem analysis of wounds received in military combat (*90*). Not only does the technique provide clear images of fractures from a range of perspectives and in 3D reconstructions, but the paths of bullets, knives, and other foreign bodies can be clearly visualized, traced, and evaluated for angle of entry and exit in ways that conventional autopsy cannot approach. The technique can detect water and blood inhalation, air and gas pockets, and internal bleeding. These results can be merged with other data (such as photogrammetric data) and tool mark analysis software.

Despite the impression given by the ubiquitous appearance of 3D CT navigable or "flythrough" images in movies and on television shows such as *CSI*, most medical examiners' offices do not have routine access to this technology. Limiting factors are the expense of the apparatus, the expertise needed to reconstruct and interpret the images, a lack of verified acquisition protocols that can be replicated, and a lack of relevant imaging databases to which forensic scans can be compared. Yet it is almost certain that multislice CT, now becoming the standard in clinical imaging, will become faster, less expensive, and more powerful in the near future. The exploration and refinement of a replicable protocol for elder abuse and neglect continues to have promise to yield far-reaching proximal and distal results that respond to the specific challenges described here. Legal analysts have already reported positively on the prospect for widespread acceptance of multislice CT technologies as novel scientific evidence in death investigations and criminal proceedings (91,92).

With this study, the first of its kind to be federally funded, we hoped to create a new and validated approach with which medical imaging specialists and medical examiners could partner to increase scientific knowledge, decrease the growing burden of autopsies likely to come with the graying of America, and enhance the effectiveness of investigation and prosecution of crimes against elder individuals.

I.2 Additional Literature Citations and Review

Medical and forensic publications on incorporation of imaging into the autopsy process have been added to the body of supporting literature in the past 3 years, although multislice CT imaging in routine partnerships with medical examiner activity remains relatively rare. The literature on the frequency, demographics, and detection of elder abuse in its many forms has grown as well, with a substantial bolus of work engendered as part of NIJ projects. Efforts to connect researchers with intersecting interests in elder abuse topics have also led to new collaborations. This newer literature is briefly summarized and referenced here. Although the Elder Justice Act was signed into law in March 2010, not all of its policies have been implemented. A number of studies published in 2010 suggest that elder abuse is a growing problem and one that has been exacerbated by economic hard times (93). Public policy on elder abuse remains a focus for a number of organizations and agencies, although particularly at the state level funds to address elder abuse (including funds to identify victims, prosecute abusers, and study preventive alternatives) have seen severe cuts (e.g., in New York and California).

Reviews on the current status of elder abuse studies (94,95) and on the demographics and understanding of elder abuse (96–104) have provided systematic overviews of current status and useful syntheses of published resources and databases. One area of special focus has been on identification of self-neglect and the challenges of differentiating self-neglect from abuse, particularly in noninstitutional settings (105–109), a body of literature that strikes a cautionary note for those characterizing injuries as abuse at either conventional or imaging autopsy. A second area of special focus has been on gender differences in elder abuse, with attention to the status of elder abused men (110–113). The creation of dedicated forensic centers on elder abuse promises to not only continue to expand investigations in these areas but to create a new cadre of researchers trained in interdisciplinary perspectives (114–117).

The use of advanced imaging techniques in assisting and enhancing conventional autopsy has grown remarkably in the 3 years since the initiation of our project. A number of studies, from several nations and originating within both the medical examiner and imaging communities, have focused on the utility of CT and other advanced imaging approaches in post mortem assessment (118–129). Although the ability of imaging to enhance and in some cases replace conventional autopsy has been highlighted in several small case studies, data on systematic

comparisons across large samples or routine use remains scarce. An encouraging note is that several studies have explored new techniques and technologies related to imaging autopsy, including robotic instrumentation, novel contrast media, and different modalities (magnetic resonance imaging, ultrasound, etc.) (*130–134*).

Several authors, particularly Thali et al. in Switzerland, the group that pioneered virtual autopsy approaches, have published useful articles on standardized protocols for imaging, incorporation of post mortem imaging into normal workflow, and educational activities (135–145). Several of these articles have proposed the creation of a new subdiscipline of forensic imaging that encompasses knowledge and techniques from radiology and forensic pathology. A few authors have explored the medicolegal implications of post mortem imaging, including the question of whether and under what circumstances CT imaging is admissible in court proceedings (146–152).

By far the largest numbers of articles on post mortem imaging continue to be accounts of its use in specific cases studies or in specific types of disease or injuries (*153–185*). The articles represent a broad range of countries and medical settings (with China recently showing great interest in post mortem imaging), as well as a wide range of causes of accidental death and disease types. One area of special focus has been on techniques that can noninvasively assess cardiac causes of death.

I.3 Statement of Hypothesis, Aims, and Goals

The general and original hypothesis to be explored in this study was that multislice CT imaging of decedents in whom elder abuse was suspected or reported might enhance the work of the medical examiner by providing novel information not readily available at conventional autopsy and/or by ruling out the need for complete conventional autopsy in cases in which abuse

findings were negative, thereby providing: time and cost efficiencies, additional evidentiary support in the form of state-of-the-art images, and, in some cases, compassionate support for families whose religions or cultures required more rapid and/or noninvasive techniques.

This project was realized through an established partnership between the University of Maryland Department of Diagnostic Radiology and the State of Maryland, Office of the Chief Medical Examiner (OCME), and the hypothesis was elaborated through the following primary aims:

Primary aim 1: To determine whether a noninvasive protocol, consisting of an examination by a forensic pathologist for evidence of external injuries and a whole-body CT scan evaluated by a diagnostic radiologist for evidence of internal injuries, is a sensitive and accurate method for the detection or exclusion of physical abuse and/or neglect in elder individuals.

<u>**Primary aim 2:**</u> To determine whether the use of the optimized version of the CT scanning protocol would obviate the need to perform complete autopsy in some percentage of cases in which elder abuse was suspected.

<u>**Primary aim 3:**</u> To determine whether the use of the optimized version of the PMCT scanning protocol would provide appropriate justification for full autopsy in cases in which external visual inspection was negative.

<u>Primary aim 4</u>: To determine to what extent the optimized version of the PMCT scanning protocol would provide a time- and cost-efficient model for rapid investigation of suspected elder abuse and neglect.

24

<u>Primary aim 5:</u> To the extent that aims 1–4 were successful, to prepare a database of freely available images and descriptive technical reports that would facilitate the reproduction of this scanning protocol in other medical examiners' offices.

Successful completion of these aims and the associated investigations and analyses of results were designed to serve in support and fulfillment of the following project goals, which included:

(1) Creation of a time- and cost-efficient post mortem whole-body CT imaging protocol with validated utility in the assessment of abuse and neglect in elder individuals.

(2) Provision of verified and validated means to: eliminate complete autopsy in some cases of suspected abuse, offer additional information to facilitate cause-of-death investigations in others, and serve as a source of valuable visual forensic evidence for the pursuit of justice.

(3) Dissemination of a detailed and freely available description of this protocol to assist in implementation of the forensic imaging approach in other institutions and settings.

(4) Initiation of an ongoing database through which post mortem images of elder abuse and neglect could be studied, compared, and evaluated for more thorough understanding of forensic investigations as well as an enhanced understanding of the prevalence and type of findings that can inform efforts to identify and prevent abuse and neglect in the living elderly.

II. Methods

II.1. Preliminary Studies

As preparatory work for the proposed studies, a partnership between the Department of Diagnostic Radiology at the University of Maryland Medical Center and the OCME, State of Maryland, was initiated in 2006 to explore: (a) whether routine post mortem imaging studies were feasible within the already busy routines of their respective clinical care and death

25

investigation activities; (b) to identify optimal transport methods, routes, and body handling techniques in transferring decedents to and from the imaging facility; (c) to conduct preliminary training and orientation sessions for radiologic technologists in managing post mortem imaging; (d) to secure institutional approval and IRB exemption for such studies; (e) to enlist the support and participation of radiologists, trauma specialists, infectious disease specialists, mass casualty analysts, and others in investigating the range of possible applications of post mortem imaging; (f) to explore optimal timing and methods for communication of imaging results to the medical examiner's staff; and (g) to acquire initial studies in decedents with a variety of causes of death and to explore optimal display, navigation, and interpretation of such studies.

As of January 2007, each of these goals had been successfully realized. Staff and administration from both the University of Maryland Medical Center and the OCME extended their enthusiastic support to these preliminary investigations. Together they devised, refined, and tested all necessary protocols for body transport and handling; conducted successful training sessions with the cadre of radiologic technologists who would provide technical support in image acquisition; secured appropriate IRB exemptions and incorporated requisite health information identifier protections into the study plans; secured substantial departmental support, including the provision of a dedicated server for data storage and the services of a large and experienced radiology IT staff; and enlisted the support of specialists throughout the medical center, many of whom offered suggestions for possible indicia in which post mortem imaging might be beneficial in their own areas of interest. Dr. Daly and research staff also made site visits to confer with military forensic experts at Dover Air Force Base, where multislice CT is used to provide additional information in the autopsy and cause-of-death determination for individuals killed in combat.

As part of preliminary work for the proposed project, 12 decedents were imaged, with indications including gunshot wounds, multiple fractures, suspected child abuse, blunt force



trauma, motor vehicle collision, and others. Exhibit 1 shows a decedent enclosed in a body bag immediately before a whole-body CT scan performed for investigation of death.

Exhibit 1. Decedent enclosed in a body bag immediately before whole-body CT scanning for investigation of death. The forensic investigator (left) is charged with custody of the body. The radiologic technician (right) performs the CT study before the radiologist interprets the imaging findings.

II.2 Research Design

Note: The research design as described here is the original design. Deviations from the original design are described at the end of the methodology section.

Study Group and Selection.

The study group for all phases of this 2-year investigation included elderly decedents (>65 years old) in whom abuse as a direct factor, contributing factor, or suspected long-term antecedent was suggested or suspected. A total cohort of 80 individuals was to be imaged over the 20-month time period of phases 1 and 2. This total was selected based on volume of cases of suspected elder abuse or neglect referred each year to the State of Maryland OCME office (~70 cases/year). The OCME is centralized in Maryland, with a single chief medical examiner having jurisdiction over all deaths in the state.

Decedents come under the OCME's jurisdiction after (a) visual inspection by the medical examiner's staff at a nursing home, long-term care center, or at the decedents home suggesting

evidence of abuse, neglect, or suspicious contributory circumstances leading to death; (b) relatives or other advocates for the deceased voice concerns about possible abuse or neglect; or (c) law enforcement officials request forensic investigation and/or the recovery of physical evidence.

Study Sites: Imaging acquisition, interpretation, data analysis, and preparation of materials for study dissemination were performed at the University of Maryland Medical Center (Baltimore); autopsies, related investigations, and additional data analyses and assessment were performed at the State of Maryland OCME (Baltimore).

Exemption for Use of Human Bodies in Medical Research and Data Collection and Information Privacy Considerations: Section 46.102(f) of the Common Rule defines "human subjects" as living individuals and thereby does not govern the use of human bodies in medical research. This and earlier documentation indicating that our databases of images and associated information would be anonymized to protect private health information on decedents led the Institutional Review Board of the University of Maryland School of Medicine to grant an exemption to our proposed study of forensic imaging (see exemption, Appendix 2).

Section 28 Part 22 of the Common Rule, which requires applicants for NIJ funding to outline plans for protection of private information, does not make a specific distinction between living persons and decedents. For the purposes of this project, access to protected (identifying) data was limited to: (a) those employees who would normally have such access as part of the performance of their routine duties in the office of the medical examiner; and (b) radiologists and researchers specifically assigned to this project. Each of these individuals was advised of the regulations governing privacy in this research. All identifiable data were removed from imaging studies before these were stored on a secure server in a locked room; in the short interim before such anonymizing, such data were accessible only by the researchers assigned to this project. Project findings and reports prepared for dissemination did and do not contain information that can reasonably be expected to be identifiable to a private person except as authorized under §22.22 (c).

Phase I Methods, Procedures, and Materials: When an elderly decedent was brought to the medical examiner's office with indications of suspected abuse or neglect, the medical examiner's staff notified radiology staff. The decedent, already in a body bag, was placed in a second (double) bag and transported by van 2 blocks to the medical center, where the body was transported to the CT suite for imaging, at all times in the custody of medical examiner's staff. As detailed in Appendix G, provisions were made for secure waiting areas, for separation of decedents from the clinical population, and for accommodating the presence of law enforcement officers in cases in which evidentiary chain of custody documentation was necessary. The intent of this study was to image consecutive elder decedents presented to the medical examiner's office. In some isolated instances (when medical examiner staff workload or medical center workload precludes transport and expedient imaging), such consecutive imaging was not always possible (see results).

No additional preparation of the body was necessary before imaging. Each decedent underwent full-body CT on a multislice (40 detector row; Philips Medical Systems) scanner that generated detailed, high-resolution images. Because radiation risk is not a factor in post mortem imaging, the quality of images acquired was as or more detailed than that usually seen in clinical images.

A separate, secure, coded, and Health Insurance Privacy and Portability Act-compliant electronic data archive provided storage of all images of study subjects. This is a separate,

29

restricted-access component of the medical center's radiology picture archive and communication system (PACS). A backup archive was provided for all images to avoid loss of data in the event of catastrophic system failure.

Images were obtained in standard axial 2- and 3-dimensional reconstructed formats to aid in diagnosis. Approximately 3,000–4,000 individual images were generated in axial (transverse), coronal (frontal), and sagittal (lateral) projections, with different computer imaging software programs on an imaging computer workstation (TeraRecon) utilized to depict different tissues and injuries to best advantage. This computer imaging software is the same as that used for standard clinical diagnosis. These images were tailored to each individual case and were obtained primarily by the radiologists interpreting the case. Careful attention was given to working with the imaging techniques to develop an ideal and replicable protocol (see results). The resulting images were sent to a special state-of-the-art electronic PACS for final interpretation, permanent storage, and, where appropriate, for communication to the medical examiners office. After imaging, medical examiner's staff returned the decedents to the OCME, where each decedent underwent a complete autopsy, in which the examiner was unaware of (blinded to) CT findings.

Each set of images was interpreted individually by 2 radiologists experienced in wholebody CT imaging, with subsequent consensus agreement on major findings, and, if evident, cause of death. Throughout the study, the radiologists were without (blinded to) supplementary history or investigative documentation on the decedents. Only a limited history of "suspected elder abuse" was provided to the radiologists.

All imaging findings and conclusions were compared with autopsy findings obtained within 12 hours of CT imaging. All findings on the decedents were entered in an Excel database

30

and stored, with images, on a secure server. The sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, and positive and negative predictive values of whole-body CT for subdural hematomas, fractures, and other findings were compared with autopsy findings obtained within 12 hours of CT imaging.

Phase II Methods, Procedures, and Materials: When an elderly decedent was brought to the medical examiner's office with indications of suspected abuse or neglect, the noninvasive imaging protocol comprising whole-body CT scanning and an external examination conducted by the medical examiner was utilized. The medical examiner's staff notified radiology staff and set in motion the same sequence of actions for whole-body CT scanning as described for phase I. As far as possible, consecutive subjects were to be included in this study, although the unpredictable workload of the medical examiner's staff and periods of scanner unavailability caused certain lapses in consecutive inclusion (see results). Each decedent underwent full-body CT as described for Phase I. In this phase of the study, radiologists had access to all supplementary history and investigative documentation on the decedents.

Images were interpreted within 1 hour by one of the trained radiologists who participated in phase I of the study. Images were evaluated for evidence of subdural hematoma, unrecognized fractures, organ injuries, and decubitus ulcers as specific markers suggestive of abuse or neglect. Evidence for other injuries or causes of natural death was also noted. Results were communicated to the medical examiner staff officer responsible for the case. The decedent was returned to the OCME, where the body underwent a detailed external examination for detection of signs of abuse or neglect. If either the imaging scan or external examination detected findings suggestive of abuse or neglect, the body underwent autopsy. To inform and expedite the autopsy process, images obtained during whole-body CT were available to assist and direct the medical examiner during autopsy, using a secure intranet imaging network provided to the Maryland OCME by the University of Maryland Department of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine. The duration of the external examination and autopsy were recorded. If neither the whole-body CT scan nor the external examination detects findings were suggestive of abuse or neglect, the medical examiner determined the cause of death to have been natural, and autopsy was not performed. As noted in phase I, images generated during whole-body CT scanning of all decedents in this study were permanently stored within a secure database in the PACS at the University of Maryland Department of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine and made available for appropriate medicolegal and judicial purposes. The guidelines in Exhibit 2 were used to detect evidence suggestive of elder abuse or neglect.

Exhibit 2. Study Guidelines for Detection of Evidence Suggestive of Elder Abuse and/or Neglect

Injuries considered	Unsuspected or unreported injuries
suspicious for abuse	Fractures:
	of differing ages;
	especially of long bones and ribs; and
	of atypical types (e.g., spiral fracture of the humerus suggesting
	inflicted injury rather than a fall)
	Injuries in locations unlikely to be self inflicted or the result of a fall
	Intracranial trauma—subdural and other intracranial hematomas
	Evidence for thoracic injury associated with rib fractures (e.g.,
	pneumothorax)
	Evidence for abdominal organ injuries or intra-abdominal hemorrhage
Evidence of potential	Decubitus sacral or ischial tuberosity ulcers, especially if deep, which
neglect	may be signs suggestive of neglect and of importance for the
	medical examiner's investigation

Phase III Methods, Procedures, and Materials: Phase III focused on evaluation and dissemination of study results and practice implications for the forensic investigation of death in suspected elderly victims of abuse and neglect. Materials were prepared for dissemination and presentation at national meetings by both the radiology and medical examiner principals. The replicable protocol for the techniques used in these investigations was prepared for presentation and dissemination. A database of accompanying images was prepared for medical examiners

who wish to replicate these findings and incorporate CT imaging into routine assessment of elder abuse and neglect. Scientific papers were prepared for submission to peer-reviewed journals. Phase III also included research into the implications of the study results, as well as applications of the data in other projects.

The individual products/projects originally targeted in the dissemination strategy were designed to have relevance for at least three separate groups: medical examiners charged with assessing elder decedents for signs for abuse and neglect, physicians who routinely assess patients for possible abuse and neglect, and law enforcement and justice professionals who investigate and prosecute both specific instances and patterns of abuse and neglect. Among the products/projects originally targeted were:

Publications and presentations:

• Summary highlighting research findings on advanced forensic imaging and the policy issues these findings inform;

• Full technical report, including a discussion of the use of forensic CT imaging, a review of more recent literature, detailed description of methodology and findings, conclusions, and policy recommendations.

• Brief project summary, for use by NIJ in preparing annual reports to the President and Congress.

• Requisite interim reports, including quarterly financial reports and semi-annual progress reports, as required by the NIJ solicitation.

• Scientific presentations on findings at 2008–2011 meetings of the Radiological Society of North America, the National Association of Medical Examiners, and the American Academy of Forensic Sciences..

33

• Peer-reviewed publications submitted to leading journals in medical imaging, forensics, and law enforcement.

• One or more press releases, prepared with joint approval from staff at the OCME, the University of Maryland School of Medicine, and the University of Maryland Medical Center, to disseminate significant findings and sample images to the scientific and public media.

• Invited presentations to law enforcement groups, grand rounds at medical schools, and professional meetings of social workers, long-term care givers, and elder advocates.

Other products:

• A downloadable, automated database of CT images generated through this project, and associated records (appropriately anonymized), for physicians and medical examiners who wish to replicate these findings and incorporate CT imaging into routine assessment of elder abuse and neglect.

• A prototype curriculum for basic instruction in the acquisition, interpretation, and use of the multislice 3D CT imaging protocol as an adjunct to forensic investigation.

Statistical Methods: With conventional autopsy as the standard of reference, the sensitivity of PMCT for evidence of elder abuse, decubitus ulcers and associated complications, CPR-related rib fractures, other fractures, and for a range of vascular and soft tissue findings was calculated. Two-tailed Fisher's exact test was employed to determine statistical significance. Although all CT findings were determined by consensus of two radiologists, only one reader completed all the cases because of withdrawal of the other original reader. Interobserver agreement was therefore not determined. As noted above, the level of experience of the radiology readers with forensic imaging varied from 3 to 24 months.

34

Variations in Methodology for Phases I and II: The study was opened, and initial developments, including logistics, techniques, and database creation, were completed in a timely manner. The logistic challenges in transporting, CT scanning, and then performing conventional autopsy in a time frame that fit into the medical examiners routine workflow were met in a manner that, with few exceptions, has proven quite satisfactory. However, the rate of case accrual was slower than initial projections made by the CME. Consequently, with NIJ approval, the age range criteria for the study were expanded after 9 months to include deceased younger residents of long-term care facilities (aged 18–65 years) who were suspected victims of abuse.

After the first year of the study the investigators determined that the protocol for Phase I of the study should be continued through Phase II. The original plan for Phase II required guaranteed access to CT scanning and rapid whole-body scan interpretations that may have resulted in loss of study recruits because of logistic issues. The Phase I protocol was subsequently utilized for the remainder of the study (with NIJ approval).

Because of persistently slow accrual of decedents into the study, no-cost extensions totaling 24 months were requested from and approved by NIJ during the grant period.

III. Results

III.1 Statement of Results

Over a 28-month period, 58 decedents (14 men, 44 women; mean age, 76 years, range 52–93 years) underwent PMCT imaging and subsequent conventional autopsy by state medical examiners within 24 hours of death. Conventional autopsy was performed within 12 hours of PMCT in all cases. In all cases allegations of elder abuse had been made by family members, caregivers, police officers, or physicians with knowledge of the cases. Four decedents in long-term care who were younger than 65 years old were included under the expanded inclusion
criteria. All cases were not consecutive, because three decedents could not undergo PMCT because the scanner was not available. In six additional cases whole-body CT was performed but the subsequent conventional autopsy was incomplete as a result of miscommunication. These cases were not included in the final dataset of 58 decedents.

The sensitivities of PMCT and conventional autopsy for major parameters in the study are summarized in Exhibit 3.

Major study parameters	No. of cases (n = 58)	No. identified at PMCT (% sensitivity)	No. Identified at autopsy (% sensitivity)
Evidence suspicious for elder abuse	1	1 (100)	1 (100)
Decubitus ulcers ± osteomyelitis/abscess	17	9 (53)	13 (76)
Fractured ribs resulting from CPR	21	20 (95)	10 (48)
Other fractures	7	5 (71)	2 (28)

Exhibit 3. Sensitivity (%) of PMCT and Autopsy for Major Study Parameters

The sensitivity of PMCT for evidence of elder abuse compared with conventional autopsy as the standard of reference was 100 percent in this study. The sensitivity of whole-body CT and autopsy for decubitus ulcers and associated complications were 53 percent and 76 percent, respectively (P = 0.28). The sensitivity of whole-body CT and autopsy for CPR-related rib fractures were 95 percent and 48 percent, respectively (P = 0.0014). The sensitivity of whole-body CT and autopsy for other fractures were 71 percent and 28 percent, respectively (P = 0.29).

Major findings identified on individual PMCT studies and conventional autopsy in all cases are included in Exhibit 4.

Exhibit 4. Major Findings Detected on PMCT and Autopsy and Cause of Death Determined by Autopsy

Case #	Age	Sex	Cause of death determined by ME	Evidence for abuse	Major medical examiner findings	Major PMCT findings
1	78	F	Pulmonary embolism Liver cirrhosis	No	Two contusions in right upper chest with healing abrasion	 C2-C5 acute spinous process fractures Upper sternum and

		r			• Loft rib fractures	rib fractures
					Left rib fractures	 Hemothorax
					Left pleural effusion	Left pleural effusion
					Spinal cord atrophy	Rib fractures
2	72	М	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)	No	 Spinal cord alrophy consistent with ALS Emphysematous lungs 	Rib fracturesBronchopneumonia
			Coronary artery		Healing abrasion on	Negative
3	77	F	disease (CAD)	No	chest	
4	83	м	Coronary artery disease and pneumonia	No	 Rib fractures CAD	 Rib fractures Lung consolidation and collapse Large pleural
5	72	М	Coumadin toxicity Coronary artery disease	No	Atherosclerosis of cerebral vessels Severe CAD	effusions Bilateral aspiration/pneumon ia
6	88	F	Pneumonia	No	 Bronchopneumonia Facial contusions Extremity contusions 	Lower lobe aspirationBronchopneumonia
7	79	F	Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease + COPD + diabetes.	No	 Lung congestion LAD calcification COPD 	 Rib fractures Aspiration Bronchopneumonia
8	83	F	Coronary artery disease	No	 Facial contusion and abrasions CAD 	 Rib fractures Atelectasis Pleural effusion
9	76	F	Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease; Chronic ETOH abuse	No	ETOH abuse liver disease Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease	 Superficial decubitus ulcers Rib fractures
10	54	F	Coronary artery disease	No	Rib fractures CAD	 Rib fractures Aspiration Bronchopneumonia
11	60	м	Organizing pneumonia and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)	No	 Bilateral pneumonia COPD Renal nodule 	 Rib fracture Aspiration COPD Hemorrhagic left renal cyst
12	80	F	Pulmonary embolism	No	 Pulmonary embolism CAD Extremity contusions 	No major findings
13	83	F	Head and neck injuries (accidental)	No	 Parietal contusions on forehead Scalp hemorrhage C5 fracture Extremity contusion 	 Subarachnoid hemorrhage Degenerative cervical spinal disease
14	64	м	Coronary artery disease	No	 Decubitus ulcers Subcutaneous sternal mass CAD 	Bronchopneumonia
15	88	F	Acute pontine infarction secondary to atherosclerosis and thrombosis of vertebral arteries	No	 Pons infarction Vertebral artery thrombosis 	Lung atelectasisPleural effusion
16	83	F	Aspiration pneumonia Coronary artery disease	No	 Hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy Congested lungs 	 Osteomyelitis Spinal compression fractures

			Ischemic		• CAD	Rib fractures
			encephalopathy			
17	69	F	Cardiac arrhythmia secondary to coronary artery disease	No	Congested lungsCAD	Pleural effusionLung collapse
18	88	F	Coronary artery disease Bronchopneumonia	No	CAD Bronchopneumonia	 Rib fractures Humeral shaft fracture
19	78	М	Coronary artery disease Complications secondary to sepsis	No	 Congested/edematous lungs CAD 	 Decubitus ulcers Aspiration Bronchopneumonia
20	77	М	Coronary artery disease Emphysema	No	 Sacral decubitus ulcers Emphysema CAD Extremity contusions 	 Bilateral pneumothorax Emphysema
21	88	М	Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease	No	 Cardiovascular disease Scalp hemorrhage Multiple chest contusions Multiple extremity /back abrasions 	Coronary calcifications
22	89	F	Pneumonia Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease	No	 Cardiovascular disease Pneumonia 	 Rib fractures Bronchiectasis Pulmonary edema
23	90	F	Renal infection Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease	No	 Temporal scalp hematoma Renal infection Extremity contusions Cardiovascular disease 	 Coccygeal decubitus ulcers Spinal compression fractures
24	68	F	Pulmonary embolism Emphysema.	No	 Subdural hematoma Rib fractures Pulmonary embolism Emphysema. Extremity contusions 	 Brain edema Rib fractures Aspiration Bronchopneumonia
25	77	F	Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease Emphysema.	No	 Scalp hemorrhage CAD Emphysema 	 Compression fractures of spine Emphysema
26	77	F	Pneumonia Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease Hypertension	No	 Scalp hemorrhage Subdural hematoma Cardiovascular disease Abdominal contusion Extremity contusions 	Cerebral atrophyGroin contusion
27	80	F	Coronary artery disease Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease Hypertension.	No	Edematous lungs CAD Cardiovascular disease	 Rib fractures Cardiomegaly
28	66	F	Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease Lung cancer	No	Lung mass cardiovascular disease	Bilateral lung atelectasis
29	58	F	Complications of multiple sclerosis MRSA sepsis and pneumonia	No	 Demyelination/MS Pneumonia Sacral ulcer Lower extremity ulcer 	 Rib fractures Pneumonia

30	93	F	Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease Malnutrition and focal pneumonia (no evidence of neglect)	No	 Cardiovascular disease Pneumonia 	Pneumonia
31	85	F	Pneumonia Coronary artery disease	No	 Extremity contusions Rib fractures Edematous lungs CAD 	Rib fractures
32	79	М	Coronary artery disease Hypertensive atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease	No	 Cardiovascular disease Subdural hemorrhage Subarachnoid hemorrhage (small) CAD 	Rib fractures
33	54	F	Hypertensive heart disease Chronic liver disease	No	 Cerebral infarcts Hypertensive heart disease Chronic liver disease 	No findings
34	52	F	Hypertensive cardiovascular disease	No	Cerebral infarcts	 Aspiration/broncho- pneumonia
35	69	F	Emphysema	No	Emphysema	 Cervical spine fractures Tension pneumothorax, left side
36	52	F	Hypertensive cardiovascular disease.	No	 Hypertensive cardiovascular disease 	Bilateral patchy pneumonia
37	92	F	Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease	No	 Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease Extremity contusions 	No findings
38	59	F	Cardiac arrest Myocardial fibrosis.	No	 Extremity contusions and abrasions Myocardial fibrosis Pulmonary edema 	 Scalp hematoma Fibrous dysplasia of skull base Pulmonary edema
39	59	М	Hypertensive cardiovascular disease Aortic stenosis.	No	 Hypertensive cardiovascular disease Subgaleal hemorrhage Calcification of heart valves Puljmonary edema 	 Nasal bone fracture Rib fracture Puljmonary edema
40	86	м	Head and neck injuries (accidental) Coronary artery disease	No	 Forehead laceration Cervical fracture Small subdural/epidural hemorrhage CAD 	 Rib fractures Congestive pulmonary changes
41	86	F	Cardiac amyloidosis Emphysema	No	 Lung emphysema Cardiac Amyloidosis 	 Subdural bleeding Decubitus ulcers Rib fractures Atelectasis of lung Comminuted fracture of left acetabulum
42	84	F	Hypertensive cardiovascular disease Coronary artery	No	 Scalp laceration Hypertensive cardiovascular disease 	 Rib fractures Lung consolidation Pulmonary effusions

			disease.		Rib fractures	
43	93	F	Hypertensive atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease Coronary artery disease.	No	 CAD Hypertensive cardiovascular disease Cerebral infarct CAD Extremity contusions and abrasions 	 Cerebral infarcts Chronic interstitial lung disease Humeral head fracture
44	90	F	Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, Metastatic cancer in brain & lungs (type of cancer undetermined).	No	 Subdural hemorrhage Cerebral metastases CAD Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease 	 Parietal cortex metastases Lung metastases Renal mass
45	72	F	Sepsis due to decubitus ulcers Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease	No	 Cerebral infarct Pericardial effusion Ducubitus ulcers CAD Extremity ulcers 	 Decubitus ulcers Bilateral lung aspiration Pleural effusion
46	81	F	Hypertensive cardiovascular disease	No	 Subdural hemorrhage Extremity contusions Hypertensive cardiovascular disease 	 Rib fractures, old Partial collapse of lung
47	64	М	Stomach cancer Pneumonia Atherosclerotic vascular disease	No	 Atherosclerotic vascular disease Focal bronchopneumonia Stomach cancer 	 Lung fibrosis with superimposed pneumonia
48	63	F	Diabetic ketoacidotic coma Contributing factors: Multiple traumatic injuries Coronary artery disease Hydrocephalus	Yes	 Frontal lobe contusion Multiple contusions on face/neck Epidural hemorrhage Rib fractures Contusions of chest and extremities Coronary artery disease Displaced fracture left femoral neck Diabetic ketoacidosis 	 Old and resuscitation rib fractures Diffuse pneumonia Aspiration Sternal fracture Displaced fracture left femoral neck
49	93	F	Hypertensive cardiovascular disease	No	Hypertensive cardiovascular disease	 Superficial decubitus ulcers Compressive atelectasis of lungs Pleural effusions
50	72	F	End-stage renal disease Chronic liver disease.	No	 Rib fractures Nodular/fibrotic liver End stage renal disease 	 Superficial decubitus sacral ulcers Rib fractures
51	84	F	Cardiovascular atherosclerotic disease	No	 Facial contusions Extremity contusions Cardiovascular atherosclerotic disease 	 COPD changes Atelectasis Right femur comminuted fracture
52	68	F	Hypertensive cardiovascular disease	No	 Hypertensive cardiac hypertrophy Hemorrhagic gastritis 	Infectious discitisOsteomyelitisRib fractures

			Hydrocodone toxicity. Septicemia			
53	85	F	Hypertensive cardiovascular disease	No	 Facial laceration Hypertensive cardiovascular disease Cerebral infarct Old rib fractures 	 Old rib fractures Pleural effusions
54	66	М	Cardiovascular atherosclerotic disease Coronary artery disease	No	 Rib fractures CAD Cerebral infarct Cardiovascular atherosclerotic disease 	 Rib fractures Cerebral infarct
55	74	F	Hypertensive cardiovascular disease	No	Hypertensive cardiovascular disease	No findings
56	84	F	Pneumonia Cardiovascular atherosclerotic disease	No	Cardiovascular atherosclerotic disease Aspiration pneumonia	Right acute clavicular fracture
57	86	F	Coronary artery disease	No	CAD Papillary carcinoma tumor of right kidney	 Cerebral infarct Calcified right renal tumor
58	66	М	Coronary artery disease Pneumonia	No	CAD Pneumonia	Right lung pneumonia

PMCT and conventional autopsy were interpreted as negative for evidence suspicious of elder abuse in 57 of 58 cases. PMCT and conventional autopsy were concordant in the detection of evidence suspicious for elder abuse in the single remaining case. In that case both investigations demonstrated multiple previously unreported rib fractures and other fractures of varying ages (Exhibit 5).



Exhibit 5. Left: Coronal CT image of the ribs in case #48 shows old healed fractures of the left 11th and 12th ribs (blue arrows). Right: Coronal CT image shows an acute fracture of the left 9th rib (green arrow).



Exhibit 6. Axial CT image shows bilateral upper anterior rib fractures (arrows) without evidence for bleeding or other changes, indicating that injuries occurred at the time of death. The decedent had CPR performed at the time of death. The appearance is typical for rib fractures occurring as a result of CPR, especially in elderly patients with brittle bones.

Neither these fractures nor other injuries had been brought to medical attention by the decedent's caregivers. Acute fractures involving multiple bilateral consistent with upper anterior ribs cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR)related injuries (Exhibit 6) were noted on PMCT in 20 of 21 cases but were undetected at autopsy in 11 of these. All such cases were associated with attempted CPR immediately prior to death.

Additional acute or subacute fractures typical for accidental trauma were noted on PMCT

in five of 58 cases (Exhibits 7 and 8) but were undetected at conventional autopsy.



Exhibit 7. Sagittal lateral CT image shows severe dislocation of 4th and 5th cervical vertebrae (arrow) with marked narrowing of the spinal canal, indicating spinal cord injury and compression. This injury was not identified on autopsy, probably because death was believed to result from a large intracranial hemorrhage, and rigor mortis masked the neck findings.



Exhibit 8. 3D image shows a comminuted fracture of the right femoral neck (arrow) in an elder decedent with a history of multiple falls. The patient had been immobile for several months following a cerebrovascular accident.

Pathologic skeletal findings overlooked at PMCT included two fractures (cervical and rib fractures) and at autopsy included five fractures (hip, cervical, clavicular and two sternal fractures).

PMCT failed to detect two fractures noted on autopsy (example, Exhibit 9). The cervical fracture was visible in retrospect and had been overlooked because of co-existing cervical spondylosis degenerative changes at the same site; the rib fracture was undisplaced and could not be identified, even on review.

Decubitus ulcers were identified in 17 (29 percent) of cases. Scanning with PMCT identified decubitus ulcers in 9 cases. Autopsy identified decubitus ulcers in all 17 decedents but failed to recognize osteomyelitis



Exhibit 9. Sagittal lateral CT scan shows a dislocation of the 5th and 6th cervical vertebrae with associated degenerative arthritic change. The PMCT scan interpretation indicated only degenerative arthritic change. These findings were confirmed at autopsy.

(Exhibit 10) or abscess formation (Exhibit 11) complicating deep grade 4 ulceration in four cases. Eight cases of superficial grade 1 or 2 decubitus ulceration were seen only at conventional autopsy.



Exhibit 10. Axial transverse CT scan shows bilateral deep grade 4 decubitus ulcers with destruction of underlying ischeal tuberosity bone. Lytic change with loss of bone cortex (pink arrow) indicates the presence of acute osteomyelitis on the right side. Sclerotic dense change (yellow arrow) indicates the presence of chronic osteomyelitis on the left side. The bone destruction was not identified on autopsy. There is also a deep grade 4 decubitus ulcer in the left thigh extending to the underlying femur bone which is not obviously infected.



Exhibit 11. Left: Axial transverse CT scan shows a deep decubitus ulcer of the sacrum (arrow) seen on both CT and at autopsy. Right: Associated large subcutaneous gas-containing abscess in the right upper buttock region (arrows). This abscess was not identified at conventional autopsy. The cause of death in this decedent was infection of unknown cause, but very likely related to this abscess.

Other discordant findings between whole-body PMCT and autopsy included septic discitis (infection of a spinal disc space) identified only on CT (Exhibit 12), which was likely the cause of the decedent's death (attributed to infection of unknown cause). In an additional case the PMCT scan showed a large tension pneumothorax (a large amount of free gas in the chest cavity compressing the lung and causing respiratory failure, Exhibit 13). This was the cause of death in a decedent who was on chronic ventilator support for severe lung disease. Pneumothorax is not identifiable on autopsy because the thoracic cavity is routinely opened at autopsy, allowing trapped gas to escape. Two cases with pneumothorax or hemothorax seen on



PMCT were overlooked at

autopsy.

Exhibit 12. Whole-body CT lateral and frontal views demonstrate septic discitis in the T12–L1 (12th thoracic–1st lumbar) spinal disc space (arrows) with osteomyelitis and destruction of margins of adjacent vertebral bones.



Exhibit 13. CT scan shows a large left-side tension pneumothorax (arrow), with free gas in the chest cavity completely compressing the left lung and most of the right lung. The heart has been displaced to the right side. This finding is not seen at autopsy because of technical reasons (related to the manner in which the chest cavity is routinely opened at autopsy).

Exhibit 14. Sensitivity (%) of PMCT and Autopsy for Other Major Findings

Other major findings	No. of cases (n = 58)	No. identified at PMCT (% sensitivity)	No. identified at autopsy (% sensitivity)
Cardiac disease	15	0 (0)	15 (100)
Pulmonary emboli	3	0 (0)	3 (100)
Cerebral infarcts	10	3 (30)	10 (100)
Intracranial bleed	11	3 (27)	11 (100)
Pneumonia	6	2 (33)	6 (100)
Tumors	4	2 (50)	3 (75)
Pneumothorax/hemothorax	2	2 (100)	0 (0)

The sensitivity of whole-body PMCT compared with that of autopsy for a range of vascular and soft tissue findings (Exhibit 14) was poor and ranged from 0 to 50 percent, with the exception of detection of pneumothorax or hemothorax. Other pathologic findings overlooked at PMCT included eight small foci of subdural or subarachnoid hemorrhage, seven small areas of cerebral infarction, and two tumors (lung and gastric carcinoma). PMCT was insensitive for detection of vascular pathologies and less reliable for detection of cerebral infarction, intracranial hemorrhage, pulmonary lesions, and tumors.

Classification of cause of death as determined by autopsy for all 58 cases is included in Exhibit 15. Cause of death was accurately determined by PMCT in 24 of 58 (41 percent) and by conventional autopsy in all cases. In 35 (63 percent) cases the cause of death determined by

autopsy was related to cardiac and/or other vascular diseases, including neurovascular diseases, which are common causes of death in the elderly. Although CT scanning in vivo using vascular contrast media (dye) is a sensitive test for cardiovascular disease in the living, the absence of the beating heart and normal vascular circulation after death makes such diagnoses difficult to determine with PMCT. The likely underlying cause of death in two cases of septicemic infection was noted only on PMCT: a large subcutaneous abscess associated with a deep decubitus ulcer of the sacrum (Exhibit 11) in one case and infectious discitis of the T12-L1 (12th thoracic-1st lumbar) spinal disc space (Exhibit 12) in another. Neither of these serious infections was noted at autopsy, and together they emphasize the superiority of PMCT over autopsy for detection of bone and spinal pathology as well as fractures.

Cause of death	No. of decedents (n = 58)
Cardiovascular	29
Chest infection	8
Accidental head injury/neurologic	5
Septicemia	4
Pulmonary embolism	3
Accidental medication overdose	2
Pneumothorax	1
Elder abuse + multiple other factors	1
Other causes	5

Exhibit 15. Causes of Death Determined in the Study Population by Autopsy

The manner of death in all 58 cases as determined by the medical examiner is included in

Exhibit 18. The majority of deaths were determined as natural, although five were noted as accidental, resulting from falls or unintentional overdoses of medication. The solitary undetermined case (#48 in our database) was believed to be the result of multiple factors, with the primary one being diabetic ketoacidotic coma but with major contributing factors, including multiple traumatic injuries (suspected to be to the result of abuse), hydrocephalus, and coronary artery disease. In this case the presence of multiple serious contributing comorbidities prevented the medical examiner from reaching a determination that the manner of death was homicide.

No. of decedents (total 58)
52
5
1

Exhibit 16. Manner of Death Determined by the Medical Examiner

Resulting CT Imaging Protocol. Our preliminary investigations and work performed in

conjunction with the current study provided the opportunity to refine and improve our post

mortem imaging protocol. The refined protocol (Exhibit 19) can be adapted for use on any CT

scanner system and is freely available to any medical and or forensic facility that wishes to

replicate our results.

Exhibit 17. Post Mortem CT Imaging Protocol: University of Maryland School of

Medicine (Developed on Philips Medical 40 MDCT Scanner)

Three noncontrast series are obtained: A. Standard nonhelical axial brain scan, 16 detectors x 0.625-mm collimation, 5-mm thick @ 5-mm interval reconstruction, small FOV, and dedicated brain filter. B. The head and torso using helical technique, 40 detectors × 0.625-mm collimation, 0.9 pitch, 1-mm reconstruction @ 0.5-mm intervals, large FOV, and soft tissue filter. C. The body is turned on the table to allow scanning of the lower limbs with an overlap of the lower pelvis, using similar parameters as for the torso in #2 2 options are also available: D. Large body habitus, 32 detectors x 1.25-mm collimation, 0.9 pitch, 1.5 -mm reconstruction @ 0.75-mm intervals, largest FOV, and soft tissue filter. E. Reduced volume of Images. Use head and torso series B above, substituting 1-mm reconstruction @ 1-mm intervals (no overlap). The following images may be reconstructed from the helical digital data routinely, or at the radiologists discretion: Axial whole-body 5×4 -mm intervals with a soft tissue filter; Sagittal and coronal multiplanar reconstructions (MPR) of the chest, abdomen, and pelvis with a soft tissue filter: Coronal MPR of the face 3 x 3-mm with a bone filter; and Sagittal and coronal 3 x 3-mm MPR of the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spine with a bone filter. All thin-section 1-mm data are sent to a 3D server or workstation (AquariusNet, TeraRecon; Brilliance, Philips) for additional 3D image generation as needed.

III.2 Limitations of the Study

A number of factors that limit this study must be considered here. First, the original study methodology with a separate Phase I and II had to be altered and Phase II had to be abandoned for the reasons noted above in the methods section. Therefore the study could not evaluate the practical impact on everyday forensic practice of using whole-body CT as a triage tool for the detection of cases suspicious for elder abuse. Such an evaluation will be the subject of a separate study in the near future.

Second, the study failed to enroll the higher number of 80 decedents originally predicted, with recruitment only reaching 72 percent of this number, an outcome that may be related to the application of more careful inclusion criteria than was applied previously to the question of suspected elder abuse at the State of Maryland OCME. Third, the withdrawal of one of the two experienced radiologists functioning as readers in the study because of serious health problems caused a delay in the study and resulted in the need to train another radiologist. This substitute radiologist had extensive clinical but no prior forensic experience, and the time required to provide appropriate training resulted in a delay in interpretation and analysis of the study cases. As a consequence, all CT studies were interpreted by two radiologists but not by the same pair. There was considerable difference in the overall experience level of the radiologists with respect to forensic imaging (3–24 months). Interobserver agreement was not measured because of this change in personnel.

In an ideal situation the PI would not have the role of a CT reader in the study, but the lack of radiologists trained in forensic imaging made this unavoidable. This is another weakness of the study that hopefully will be less likely to occur in the future with the growth of interest in and experience with forensic imaging in the radiology community. Regarding statistical

48

measurement, the results showed that conventional autopsy did not provide a reliable standard of reference for skeletal injury: more fractures were undetected at autopsy than on CT scan. This was especially notable for CPR-related rib fractures, where a statistically significant difference (P = 0.0014) was noted for sensitivity of PMCT over autopsy. The ability of PMCT to clearly diagnose displaced fractures, especially in body regions that are difficult to dissect (such as the spine) confers advantages over autopsy in skeletal evaluation (81).

Consensus rather than individual interpretations were utilized for PMCT studies in this study. As a result of the novel nature of this imaging technique, the experience level of all the interpreting radiologists for detection of findings suggestive of elder abuse was limited. Although agreement was found between PMCT and autopsy for detection or exclusion of elder abuse in all cases in this study, it is also limited by the low number of positive cases; only a single positive case was identified in this series of 58 decedents. The true incidence of elder abuse in the United States is unknown and may vary with geographic location, time of year, and other factors. As noted previously, it has been suggested that up to 10 percent of individuals over the age of 65 years will be victims of abuse or neglect (4). The low percentage of positive cases in this study may reflect limited awareness of elder abuse among family members, caregivers, emergency medical technicians, funeral home workers and the health care system in general and subsequent failure to refer suspected cases. Alternatively, the patient population in this study was drawn mainly (71 percent) from decedents in nursing homes and other long-term care facilities where the presence of multiple caregivers in a supervised setting may be expected to reduce (although not to exclude) the potential for elder abuse to occur. Other cases of elder abuse are likely to occur in unsupervised settings in which elders cohabit with younger family members or are attended by visiting caregivers with less frequent oversight of care.

However, the results of this study may support the view that a substantial percentage of deaths referred to the medical examiner with allegations or suspicions of elder abuse may prove to have been the result of natural causes or accidents rather than criminal acts. PMCT, like conventional autopsy, cannot rule out nonphysical (emotional or financial) abuse. PMCT is unable to identify all of the potential abuse- or neglect-related causes of death that conventional autopsy can identify (most notably under- or overmedication). It is clear, however, that PMCT has the potential to make a significant contribution in guiding and/or eliminating the need for autopsy in a substantial percentage of individuals referred to the medical examiner for suspicion of abuse.

IV. Conclusions

The results of this study suggest that PMCT is reliable for the detection or exclusion of skeletal injuries suspicious for elder abuse and may be used (in correlation with medical history, death scene investigation, and external examination of the body), to determine the need for conventional autopsy when allegations or suspicion of abuse are raised. PMCT may be used as a triage tool by the medical examiner to screen out those decedents in whom physical abuse is suspected. If the percentage of individuals in whom abuse is suspected but ultimately unproven is as high elsewhere as in our study, the ability to use PMCT to screen for physical abuse has the potential to result in significant time and work savings for medical examiners and their staffs. At the same time, PMCT imaging in cases in which evidence suspicious for abuse and physical neglect are discovered provides permanent and compelling evidence of that abuse. Such evidence can become a permanent part of the medical examiner's record, be anonymized for use in forensic and medical education (including education targeted at enhancing identification of elder abuse in living patients), and be used in legal and judicial proceedings. Negative findings (i.e., the findings of no evident abuse on PMCT) may serve a useful purpose in assisting law enforcement authorities in convincing grieving families and friends that no abuse has occurred. As indicated in our study, significant number of autopsies requested by families and friends, particularly when the decedent was in institutional or third-party care prior to death, are found to be negative for signs of physical abuse and/or neglect. The establishment of a rapid and widely accepted imaging method for ruling out physical abuse can be beneficial to grieving families, to medical examiners, and to law enforcement agents who handle complaints of suspected abuse.

Deep decubitus ulcers and associated complications of osteomyelitis or abscess formation that are suggestive of neglect are more accurately detected and characterized on PMCT than at conventional autopsy. In addition to influencing conventional autopsy, these findings have direct implications for clinicians reviewing CT records of living elderly individuals and merit further exploration, particularly by the groups that NIJ is already funding to elucidate the association between decubitus ulcers and neglect.

Another important finding was the presence of acute upper anterior bilateral rib fractures in all decedents who underwent full CPR. These fractures are likely related to the force of direct CPR compressions on the sternum and ribs and the susceptibility of brittle osteoporotic bone to fracture in elderly patients. Although modern conventional autopsy is unlikely to confound these new fractures with fractures associated with physical abuse, the ability of PMCT to distinguish old from new fractures may provide useful information in some cases. Moreover, the finding that all decedents who had full CPR experienced fractures implies that a high percentage of all decedents in whom resuscitation is attempted—not merely those referred for suspicion of abuse or neglect—experience such fractures. This fact may provide a basis for further dialog about the use and degree of blunt force applied during CPR in elderly individuals in whom successful resuscitation is unlikely or may have been legally declined.

Determination of the cause of death in this elder decedent group was not one of the aims of this study, and PMCT was not reliable in this regard, establishing the etiology in only 41 percent of cases. The low detection rate for cause of death was an expected finding, given the well-recognized limitations and lack of sensitivity of CT for cardiovascular, neurovascular, and malignant disease when performed without the increased sensitivity provided by intravascular and oral contrast, techniques routinely employed for CT examinations in the living. As noted in Exhibits 4 and 15, the cause of death in a large percentage of the study cohort was cardiovascular, neurologic, or malignant disease. Moreover, medication-related causes of death could not be detected on PMCT scan. Full autopsy (including medical and police reports, external body examination, and toxicology studies) was much more reliable for determination of cause of death than PMCT, establishing this in 100 percent of cases.

Sensitivity of PMCT for vascular and soft tissue pathologies.

Subtle intracranial lesions, such as small infarcts or bleeding detectable at autopsy, may be undetectable on no-enhanced PMCT. The natural process of lung collapse after death also makes evaluation of pulmonary pathology on PMCT difficult.

IV.1 Discussion of Specific Findings of Note

Outcome of the single case with positive evidence suspicious for elder abuse on both PMCT and autopsy. This case did not reach the level at which law enforcement officials believed that a successful prosecution would result from prosecution. This was because of complicating medical factors, including the fact that the decedent was in diabetic ketoacidosis at the time of death and had both coronary artery disease and hydrocephalus. These major co-

52

morbidities made it difficult to attribute her deterioration in health and subsequent death to the effects of suspected trauma alone. The case was not prosecuted.

IV.2 Implications for Policy and Practice

Policy and practice results of the successful completion of this evaluation of whole-body CT imaging in post mortem assessment can be seen in two distinct spheres of activity: medical examiners' activities, and law enforcement and justice activities associated with identification and prosecution of elder abuse and neglect. Implications for each of these groups are discussed here.

Medical Examiners. The most promising benefit suggested by the results is that of greater efficiency, supported by compelling visual evidence, for medical examiners facing an escalating demand to investigate cause of death in elderly individuals. As anticipated, the finding in whole-body CT imaging of most decedents was "negative"; that is, no evidence of abuse or neglect was found by CT. Every case of negative findings on CT was substantiated with corresponding findings on conventional autopsy, leading us to suggest that routine imaging of elder individuals may be proposed as a method for avoiding complete autopsy in more than 2/3 of elder decedents in whom abuse and neglect are suspected. Using this whole-body CT protocol, the medical examiner's decision not to proceed to complete autopsy would be supported by detailed images interpreted by specialist board-certified physicians, ruling out fractures, internal bleeding, and other common findings in abuse and neglect. The acceptance of a written policy and protocol for eliminating the need for complete autopsy (but including, of course, visual inspection, toxicology studies, and other tests at the medical examiner's discretion) would not only have implications for cost efficiency and more timely processing of the overall medical examiner workload but would carry compassionate benefits for those

families who, for religious or cultural reasons, are reluctant to have decedent relatives undergo invasive autopsy procedures. In those decedents in whom CT findings indicate evidence of abuse or neglect, these findings (including foreign bodies, location and number of fractures, location and type of internal bleeding, and others) may serve to direct and expedite the medical examiner's performance of autopsy and the compilation of a complete report that will be supported by novel visual evidence.

Although the kind of detailed information that would inform a comparison of the relative costs of PMCT and autopsy is not readily available, the potential economic impact of introducing PMCT into forensic practice should be given appropriate consideration. Autopsy examinations are usually funded by local county, city or state jurisdictions in the setting of a medical examiners or coroners investigation and the actual costs of the autopsy procedure are not routinely separated out from other necessary expenses for such services. However the cost of a private autopsy performed at the request of a decedents family has been noted to lie in the \$2,000-4,000 range. Other anecdotal information has put the cost of autopsy as between \$1,000 and \$2,000. By comparison, the total cost of PMCT at the University of Maryland Medical Center is \$600, comprising \$500 for performance of the scan and \$100 for its interpretation by the radiologist. Assuming this figure quoted at our institution is extrapolated to other centers, PMCT appears to be a cost-effective alternative to autopsy, even when the lowermost figure of \$1,000 for autopsy quoted above is considered to be the most accurate. It must be borne in mind that the use of PMCT as a triage tool implies that an undetermined percentage of decedents with positive PMCT findings will proceed to full autopsy, potentially increasing the overall costs of investigation. However, the low percentage of suspicious cases on PMCT noted in our study suggests that this is unlikely to be a realistic concern. Regarding the time efficiency of PMCT,

the duration of the scan itself should be no more than 10-15 minutes on any CT scanner machine capable of doing whole body examinations. 3-dimensional image generation and interpretation by a moderately experienced radiologist should require no more than 30 minutes. Therefore the entire PMCT study and interpretation should be completed routinely in less than one hour, and should logistically fit well with the current timeframe for the medical examiners death investigations.

Current practice in the Maryland OCME and implications for future practice. Following an analysis of the findings in this study, the CME for the State of Maryland OCME has decided to continue the use of PMCT followed by full autopsy in all suspected cases of elder abuse or neglect. Despite the positive outcome of this study with respect to the sensitivity of PMCT for presence or absence of skeletal injuries suspicious for elder abuse, the CME believes that more experience should be gained with positive cases of elder abuse before the routine introduction of PMCT as a triage tool, The Maryland OCME is well positioned to do this, because the facility now has a CT scanner installation on site suitable for all PMCT studies. With increased experience and familiarity with PMCT, it is considered very likely that this change will occur within the next year.

Law Enforcement and Successful Prosecution. Both negative and positive post mortem imaging findings have implications and benefits for law enforcement and successful prosecution of perpetrators of elder abuse and neglect. Positive findings provide clear visual evidence, easily understood by legal authorities and increasingly expected by juries, of the commission of a crime. Moreover, such imaging provides additional information about each type of injury; for example, the angle at which such an injury was inflicted, the presence and likely age of past injuries, and other pertinent data. Negative findings (i.e., the findings of no evident abuse on CT) may serve a useful purpose in assisting law enforcement authorities in convincing grieving families and friends that no abuse has occurred. A significant number of autopsies requested by families and friends, particularly when the decedent was in institutional or third-party care prior to death, are found to be negative for signs of physical abuse and/or neglect. The establishment of a rapid and widely accepted imaging method for ruling out physical abuse can be beneficial to grieving families, to medical examiners, and to law enforcement agents who handle complaints of suspected abuse.

Elder Care and Medical Treatment. The results of this study make it clear that routine whole-body CT imaging has the potential to provide ongoing and novel insights into evidence of abuse and neglect that can have direct implications for clinical practice. Findings on location, age, and frequency of fractures and findings of healed decubitus ulceration in our post mortem studies provide compelling visual reference examples for physicians caring for elder patients. However such findings should be considered along with other factors, such as the overall physical appearance of the decedent—the co-existence of bruising, especially in the trunk and facial areas, and cachexia/malnutrition may be suggestive of chronic neglect. Also, it must be recognized that severe decubitus ulcers may develop in bed-ridden patients with severe neurologic and other major medical problems despite optimal medical and nursing care. In settings in which the patient is totally dependant on nursing assistance, decubitus ulcers may develop rapidly and be difficult to treat.

Other findings, such as the startling fact that all individuals who underwent CPR suffered rib fractures, deserve not only further study and wider dissemination but focused discussion by the elder care community. Should CPR techniques in these patients be refined to minimize the possibility of fractures? Should caregivers and families balance the consequences of painful recovery from such fractures when considering decisions on future resuscitation?

These findings point to the importance of continued partnerships in forensic imaging between practitioners in the hospital and medical examiners' offices. As such partnerships expand, it is likely that growing databases of exemplar cases and published studies on specific features will inform and enhance the knowledge base on elder abuse for both groups.

Sophisticated databases, particularly ones that correlate examples of imaging findings with external findings and pathology, may suggest new approaches to examination, follow-up, and the performance of additional medical studies in elderly individuals in whom abuse or neglect is suspected. These forensic databases, because they will contain detailed and highresolution imaging not previously possible in living individuals, will also provide numerous opportunities for research into degenerative and other processes associated with aging as well as the relationships among specific co-morbidities in elderly patients.

One example of a forensic database with direct implications for the living can be found in a research relationship our forensic imaging team has developed with the Allen Brain Foundation (Paul G. Allen Family Foundation). Our group collaborates in several ongoing projects to provide high-resolution magnetic resonance images of brain tissue as part of an effort to map genomic expression within the entire brain and to explore the characteristics of dementias and Alzheimer disease, among others.

Medical Education. Because advanced CT imaging clearly provides useful information for each of the three groups discussed here (medical examiners, law enforcement and prosecutors, and physicians caring for the elderly)—and because interest in forensic imaging is clearly on the rise—medical centers will be challenged to include forensic imaging as a collaborative service

57

with medical examiners. Such services ideally would involve the participation of skilled and specifically trained radiologists and radiologic technologists, as well as the provision of specialized training for medical examiner's staff members. The positive results of this study, including the ability to routinely perform forensic imaging without disrupting the schedules of either a busy clinical practice or medical examiner's office, have led us to begin creating a prototype curriculum for specialist training in forensic imaging. As the result of presentations at imaging and forensic meetings, we have received numerous requests for such a curriculum (for both clinical practitioners and medical examiner staff), for advice on setting up regional and local forensic imaging programs, and for the availability of specialized fellowship training in this area. Our University of Maryland/OCME partnership plans to create such a curriculum as part of a Forensic Science Training Delivery and Research Program and has recently welcomed the first two trainee fellows in forensic imaging in the United States. Each fellow will spend 6 months in training both in forensic medicine and forensic radiology. It is likely that other U.S. centers will develop similar programs over time. At present there are few experts in forensic imaging in the United States. However, prior experience with the introduction of new radiological techniques such as mammography suggests that the development of promising applications such as PMCT is likely to be rapid. A plan that may be practical for the rapid provision of trained experts in forensic imaging will be the development of regional centers, likely based on partnerships between radiologists and forensic pathologists at academic medical centers. CT scanners may be placed at larger geographically dispersed medical examiners offices and the scans transmitted to the regional academic centers for rapid interpretation.

An unexpected and immediate use of the experience gained in completion of our current study has been in basic medical education. As a result of our proven experience in forensic imaging, the University of Maryland School of Medicine asked our department to join in a program in which every cadaver donated for use in Y1 medical school anatomy classes would undergo PMCT. Medical students receive special instruction in reconstructing the images, viewing them as slices or as 3D views, identifying key structures, etc. The result is the ability to visually "fly through" each cadaver before and during the dissection process. Sample images from the elder abuse study are being used to train automatic structure labeling software that will enhance this educational experience. We believe that over time, such training is likely to become a standard approach in the education of all medical students in the United States.

Wider Applications of Advanced Forensic Imaging. The results of this study of advanced forensic imaging in suspected elder abuse/neglect offer proof of principle for the effectiveness of advanced forensic imaging and provide valuable preliminary data to support future studies applying these techniques in: child abuse and neglect, trauma (including suspected homicide and suicide), infectious disease incident management, mass casualty management, terrorist acts resulting in deaths, and disaster preparedness.

Forensic imaging has potential beyond the clinic, morgue, and courtroom. The PI of this study, as a result of publicity about the NIJ project, was contacted by the Walters Art Gallery for assistance in analyzing ancient human artifacts. Dr. Daly subsequently imaged several of the Walter's Egyptian mummies and reported on his findings in well-attended public presentations covered by the national and international media.

IV.3 Implications for Further Research

The previous section highlighted many of the areas in which the results of this study point toward the need for additional research and exploration. This study was designed as a proof of principle exploration of the utility of forensic imaging in suspected elder abuse and neglect. Although the planned use of PMCT as a triage tool to determine the need for autopsy in Phase 2 of the study did not materialize for reasons discussed earlier, such a study will be undertaken by our group in the near future. We expect that this should answer the question regarding the suitability of PMCT for this purpose. Many other promising extensions of this research are possible in elder abuse as well as in wider areas. Studies with larger numbers of decedents will be particularly helpful in answering key questions in this research. This project may be viewed in the wider context of a pressing need for extensive research into the development of new tools and markers for the detection of suspected elder abuse, a neglected area that has recently received attention in the mainstream U.S. medical literature (186).

In brief, areas for future research include but are not limited to the areas outlined in Exhibit 18.

Area of focus	Research question/study
Medical examiners	Specific, quantitative studies aimed at answering to what extent does whole-body CT and/or
(MEs)	other advanced imaging:
	Reduce ME staff time (and time to delivery of final reports) in specific types of cases?
	Reduce ME staff time (and time to delivery of final reports) in routine daily practice?
	Provide cost savings in staff time/overtime/materials?
	Enhance specific aspects of the ME's approach to conventional autopsy?
	Facilitate the development and effectiveness of written policies to guide integration of advanced imaging into everyday ME activities?
	Address the need to compassionately respond to requests from families/friends when decedents' cultural/religious requirements call for expeditious release of the body
	To what extent is the integration of whole-body CT and other advanced imaging practical "in- house" in larger ME's offices?
	As costs decrease, will there ultimately be practical aspects to "triaging" all elder deaths
	through in-house whole-body CT (providing a permanent visual record and eliminating the need for conventional autopsy in a substantial percentage of these decedents)?
	What are the best approaches to creating and sustaining partnerships between imaging specialists and ME's offices?
	Could regional specialist centers provide forensic imaging services for ME's offices using electronic image transfer via the Internet?
	What are the implications of the high numbers of decedents in our study referred for suspicion
	of abuse but ultimately with no evidence of abuse or neglect on either imaging or conventional autopsy?
Law enforcement/	Studies with specific examples from a range of jurisdictions on the utility of whole-body CT
prosecution	and/or other advanced imaging to:
	Assist in determination and definition of criminal activity;
	Be used in conjunction with physical evidence to identify criminals and/or secure a conviction;
	Be used as evidence that may assist in securing a plea bargain or other pretrial resolution; Provide compelling visual evidence that supports expert testimony in court;

Exhibit 18. Implications for Further Research in Forensic Imaging

[
	Create a database of exemplar cases that can be used for comparisons and supporting
	documentation.
	A study of case law to determine current limitations on the use of whole-body CT and/or other
	advanced imaging in legal proceedings (specifically who can interpret the images, do
	specific reconstruction/viewing/archival requirements pertain, etc.)
Elder care and	Specific research questions raised by our study include:
medical treatment	To what extent should imaging findings of previous decubitus ulcers in living individuals be
	interpreted as evidence of past abuse?
	Is additional medical education needed about rib fractures after resuscitation efforts in
	older individuals (questions of refined technique in CPR, etc.)?
	If the percentage of negative (ie, nonabuse) determinations in cases of suspected
	abuse/neglect are routinely as high as those reported in our study, what implications
	does this have for response to reported suspicion of abuse in elder patients?
	A host of potential research studies could be launched to mine information from the large
	databases of forensic studies likely to be generated in the future. As noted previously,
	these databases are likely to include the most detailed imaging of elderly individuals
	available anywhere and could provide the "raw materials" for innovative studies in such
	areas as:
	Osteodegenerative conditions, such as arthritis;
	Frequency of old and healed fractures and association with other conditions
	Comorbidities (the existence of specific conditions in conjunction with others in elder
	individuals);
	In combination with medical histories, the effects of smoking/drug use/trauma/long-term
	stress or other factors on the human body;
	Long-term effects of specific medications or therapies;
	Long-term effects of specific dietary regimens or deficiencies.
Medical education	Studies aimed at determining useful answers to the following questions:
	Can a well-designed program of forensic imaging education be integrated into academic
	radiology departments (as part of resident, fellowship, and CME activities?)
	What are the best approaches to creating and sustaining partnerships between imaging
	specialists and ME's offices?
	What are the most effective ways to use what are likely in the future to be large databases
	of forensic imaging results to provide examples of elder abuse/neglect for
	education/point-of-care comparison by radiologists and other specialists?
	What types of forensic imaging education are needed by ME staff?
	Who will/should set professional standards and guidelines for forensic medical imaging?
Wider areas of	Every aspect of this study could be easily extended to exploration of the use of forensic imaging
application	in suspected cases of child abuse/neglect , and each of the potential research areas
	suggested above has direct relevance in that area.
	These same research questions/areas are relevant to decedents in whom homicide/suicide is
	a suspected cause of death.
	We are also currently exploring the use of rapid ultrasound-guided tissue sampling (in full
	protective clothing) for use in deaths in which infectious disease and/or hazardous
	substances are suspected;
	The use of a rapid-acquisition protocol for whole-body CT has potential in mass casualty
	management and merits research to determine whether readiness for such capability is a
	prudent preparatory measure for larger MEs' offices likely to receive high numbers of
	casualties in situations of natural or human-caused disasters.

V. References

- 1. Collins KA. Elder maltreatment: a review. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2006;130:1290–1296.
- 2. McNamee CC, Murphy MB. Elder abuse in the United States. *NIJ Journal*. 2006:255. Available at: www.ojp.usdoj.gov/nij/journals/255/elder_abuse.html.
- 3. Bonnie R, Wallace R, eds. *Elder Mistreatment: Abuse, Neglect, and Exploitation in an Aging America.* Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 2003.
- 4. Lachs MS, Pillemer K. Elder abuse. The Lancet. 2004;364:1192–1263.
- 5. Gorbien MJ, Eisenstein AR. Elder abuse and neglect: an overview. *Clin Geriatr Med.* 2005;21:279–292.
- 6. Fulmer T. Elder mistreatment. Annu Rev Nurs Res. 2002;20:369-395.
- 7. Kleinschmidt KC. Elder abuse: a review. Ann Emerg Med. 1997;30:463-472.
- 8. Hardin E, Khan-Hudson A. Elder abuse—"society's dilemma". J Natl Med Assoc. 2005;97:91–94.
- 9. Teaster P, Dugar TA, Mendiondo MS, et al. *The 2004 Survey of State Adult Protective Services: Abuse of Adults 60 Years of Age and Older.* Washington, DC: National Center on Elder Abuse; 2006.
- 10. Muehlbauer M, Crane PA. Elder abuse and neglect. J Psychosoc Nurs Ment Health Serv. 2006;44:43–48.
- 11. Jayawardena KM, Liao S. Elder abuse at end of life. J Palliat Med. 2006;9:127–136.
- 12. Fulmer T, Guadagno L, Bolton MM. Elder mistreatment in women. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2004;33:657–663.
- 13. Fulmer T, Guadagno L, Bitondo Dyer C, Connolly MT. Progress in elder abuse screening and assessment instruments. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2004;52:297–304.
- 14. Levine JM. Elder neglect and abuse: A primer for primary care physicians. *Geriatrics*. 2003;58:37–40.
- 15. Fulmer T, Firpo A, Guadagno L, Easter TM, Kahan F, Paris B. Themes from a grounded theory analysis of elder neglect assessment by experts. *Gerontologist*. 2003;43:745–752.
- Cohen M, Halevi-Levin S, Gagin R, Friedman G. Development of a screening tool for identifying elderly people at risk of abuse by their caregivers. *J Aging Health.* 2006;18:660– 685.
- 17. Greenbaum AR, Horton JB, Williams CJ, Shah M, Dunn KW. Burn injuries inflicted on children or the elderly: a framework for clinical and forensic assessment. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 2006;118:46e–58e.
- 18. Luu AD, Liang BA. Clinical case management: a strategy to coordinate detection, reporting, and prosecution of elder abuse. *Cornell J Law Pub Policy*. 2005;15:165–196.

- 19. Bomba PA. Use of a single-page elder abuse assessment and management tool: a practical clinician's approach to identifying elder mistreatment. *J Gerontol Soc Work*. 2006;46:103–122.
- 20. Meeks-Sjostrom D. A comparison of three measures of elder abuse. J Nurs Scholarsh. 2004;36:247–250.
- 21. Nelson HD, Nygren P, McInerney Y, et al. Screening women and elderly adults for family and intimate partner violence: a review of the evidence for the U. S. Preventive Services Task Force. *Ann Intern Med.* 2004;140:387–396.
- 22. Acierno R, Resnick H, Kilpatrick D, Stark-Riemer W. Assessing elder victimization demonstration of a methodology. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol*. 2003;38:644–653.
- 23. Shugarman LR, Fries BE, Wolf RS, Morris JN. Identifying older people at risk of abuse during routine screening practices. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2003;51:24–31.
- 24. White SW. Elder abuse: critical care nurse role in detection. *Crit Care Nurs Q*. 2000;23:20–25.
- 25. Harrell R, Toronjo CH, McLaughlin J, et al. How geriatricians identify elder abuse and neglect. *Am J Med Sci.* 2002;323:34–38.
- 26. Chen AL, Koval KJ. Elder abuse: the role of the orthopaedic surgeon in diagnosis and management. J Am Acad Ortho Surg. 2002;10:25–31.
- 27. Johnson TE, Boccia AD, Strayer MS. Elder abuse and neglect: detection, reporting, and intervention. *Spec Care Dentist*. 2001;4:141–146.
- 28. Fulmer T, Paveza G, Abraham I, Fairchild S. Elder neglect assessment in the emergency department. *J Emerg Nur.* 2000;26:436–453.
- 29. Clarke ME, Pierson W. Management of elder abuse in the emergency department. *Emerg Med Clin North Am.* 1999;17:631–644.
- 30. Taylor DK, Bachuwa G, Evans J, Jackson-Johnson V. Assessing barriers to the identification of elder abuse and neglect: a community-wide survey of primary care physicians. *J Natl Med Assoc.* 2006;98:403–404.
- 31. Nusbaum NJ, Cheung VM, Cohen J, Keca M, Mailey B. Role of first responders in detecting and evaluating elders at risk. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr.* 2006;43:361–367.
- 32. Neno R, Neno M. Identifying abuse in older people. Nurs Stand. 2005;20:43-47.
- 33. Fulmer T, Paveza G, Vandeweerd C, et al. Neglect assessment in urban emergency departments and confirmation by an expert clinical team. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2005;60:1002–1006.
- 34. Fulmer T, Paveza G, VandeWeerd C, et al. Dyadic vulnerability and risk profiling for elder neglect. *Gerontologist*. 2005;45:525–534.
- 35. Carney MT, Kahan FS, Paris BE. Elder abuse: is every bruise a sign of abuse? *Mt Sinai J Med.* 2003;70:69–74.
- 36. Kahan FS, Paris BE. Why elder abuse continues to elude the health care sustem. *Mt Sinai J Med.* 2003;70:62–68.

- 37. Jones JA, Veenstra TR, Seamon JP, Krohmer J. Elder mistreatment: national survey of emergency physicians. *Ann Emerg Med.* 1997;30:473–479.
- 38. Brandl B, Raymond J. Unrecognized elder abuse victims. Older abused women. J Case Manage. 1997;6:62–68.
- 39. Dowd SB, Durick D. Elder abuse: the R.T.'s role in diagnosis and prevention. *Radiol Technol.* 1996;68:23–28.
- 40. Jones JS, Walker G, Krohmer JR. To report or not to report: emergency services response to elder abuse. *Prehospital Disaster Med.* 1995;10:96–100.
- 41. Lachs MS, Fulmer T. Recognizing elder abuse and neglect. *Clin Geriatr Med.* 1993;9:665–681.
- 42. Bergeron LR, Gray B. Ethical dilemmas of reporting suspected elder abuse. *Social Work*. 2003;46:96–105.
- 43. Dyer CB, Connolly MT, McFeeley P. "The clinical and medical forensics of elder abuse and neglect," in Bonnie RJ, Wallace RB. *Elder Mistreatment: Abuse, Neglect, and Exploitation in an Aging America.* Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 2003: 344–360.
- 44. Collins KA, Bennett AT, Hanzlick R. Elder abuse and neglect. Autopsy Committee of the College of American Pathologists. *Arch Intern Med.* 2000;160:1567–1568.
- 45. Collins KA, Presnell SE. Elder homicide: a 20-year study. Am J Forens Med Pathol. 2006;27:183–187.
- 46. Davis GG, Carroll JL, Barber D, Power RE. Investigation of long-term care deaths within a medical examiner system. *Ann Long-Term Care*. 2003;11:382–399.
- 47. Gruszecki AC, Edwards J, Powers RE, Davis GG. Investigation of elderly deaths in nursing homes by the medical examiner over a year. *Am J Forens Med Pathol*. 2004:25:209–212.
- 48. Thunder J. Quiet killings in medical facilities: detection and prevention. *Issues Law Med.* 2003;18:211–223.
- 49. Noguchi TT, Sathyavagiswaran L. The role of the forensic pathologist in quality assurance and safety of patient care. *Med Law.* 2005;24:535–547.
- 50. U.S. House of Representatives, Committee on Government Reform. Abuse of Residents is a Major Problem in U.S. Nursing Homes. Special Investigative Report Prepared for Henry Waxman. July 30, 2001. Available at: http://oversight.house.gov/Documents/20040830113750-34049.pdf. Accessed on January 25, 2007.
- 51. Kapp M. Resident safety and medical errors in nursing homes. Reporting and disclosure in a culture of mutual distrust. *J Legal Med.* 2003;24:51–76.
- 52. Corey TS, Weakley-Jones B, Nichols GR II, Theuer HH. Unnatural deaths in nursing home patients. *J Forens Sci.* 1992;37:222–227.
- 53. DiMaio VJM, DiMaio TG. Homicide by decubitus ulcers. Am J Forens Med Pathol. 2002;23:1–4.

- 54. Braun JA, Capezuti EA. A medico-legal evaluation of dehydration and malnutrition among nursing home residents. Elder Law J. 2000;239:1–65.
- 55. Schneider A, O'Connor P. Nation's nursing homes are quietly killing thousands. *St. Louis Post-Dispatch*, October 12, 2002.
- 56. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Nursing Home Deficiency Trends and Survey and Certification Process Consistency. Washington, DC: HHS Office of the Inspector General; 2003. Available at: http://oig.hhs.gov/oei/reports/oei-02-01-00600.pdf. Accessed on January 25, 2007.
- 57. Moskowitz S. Symposia: golden age in the Golden State: contemporary legal developments in elder abuse and neglect. *Loyola of Los Angeles Law Rev.* 2003:36:589–596.
- 58. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. *The Autopsy as a Critical Part of Quality Management*. Evidence Report/Technology Assessment: No. 58. October 2002. Available at: www.ahrq.gov/clinic/epcsums/autopsum.pdf. Accessed on January 25, 2007.
- 59. Trelstad RL, Amenta PS, Foran D. The role for regional autopsy centers in the evaluation of covered deaths. Survey of opinions of US and Canadian chairs of pathology and major health insurers in the United States. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* 1996;120:753–758.
- 60. Marwick C. Pathologists request autopsy revival. JAMA. 1995;273:1889–1891.
- 61. Anguelov Z. The decline of the autopsy. Currents 2001:2. Available at: www.uihealthcare.com/news/currents/vol2issue3/6autopsy.html. Accessed on January 25, 2007.
- 62. Eriksson L, Sundstrom C. Decreasing autopsy rate in Sweden reflects changing attitudes among clinicians. *Qual Assur Health Care*. 1993;5:319–323.
- 63. Weedn V. Infrastructure and training: infrastructure of the medical examiner system. In: Institute of Medicine. *Medicolegal Death Investigation System: Workshop Summary*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2003:12–18.
- 64. Hanzlick R. Medical examiners, coroners, and public health: a review and update. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* 2006;130:1274–1282.
- 65. Hanzlick R, Combs D. Medical examiner and coroner systems: history and trends. *JAMA*. 1998;279:870–874.
- 66. Eckert WG, Garland N. The history of the forensic applications in radiology. *Am J Forensic Med Pathol.* 1984;5:53–56.
- 67. Brogdon BG, Lichtenstein JE. Forensic radiology in historical perspective. *Crit Rev Diagn Imaging*. 2000;41:13–42.
- 68. Lichtenstein JE. Forensic radiology. In: Gagliardi RA, ed. A History of the Radiological Sciences. Reston, VA: American College of Radiology; 1996.
- 69. Lichtenstein JE, Fitzpatrick JJ, Madewell JE. The role of radiology in fatality investigations. *Am J Roentgenol.* 1988;150:751–755.
- 70. Kahana T, Hiss J. Identification of human remains: forensic radiology. *J Clin Forensic Med.* 1997;4:7–15.

- 71. Hazebroucq V, Bonnin A, Kannapell F, et al. Radiology in the medicolegal identification of cadavers. A new technique of radiography of the maxilla. *J Radiol.* 1993;74:671–674.
- 72. Schmidt G, Kallieris D. Use of radiographs in the forensic autopsy. *Forensic Sci Int.* 1982;19:263–270.
- 73. Alker GJ, Oh YS, Leslie EV, Lehotay J, Panaro VA, Eschner EG. Postmortem radiology of head neck injuries in fatal traffic accidents. *Radiology*. 1975;114:611–617.
- 74. Koot MG, Sauer NJ, Fenton TW. Radiographic human identification using bones of the hand: a validation study. *J Forensic Sci.* 2005;50:263–268.
- 75. Zollikofer CP, Ponce De Leon MS, Vandermeersch B, Leveque F. Evidence for interpersonal violence in the St. Cesaire Neanderthal. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 2002;99:6444–6448.
- 76. James AE Jr, Hall DJ, Johnson BA. Some applications of the law of evidence to the specialty of radiology. *Radiology*. 1977;124:845–848.
- 77. Greenberg JS. An appellate court ruling and potential implications for CAD technology in the courtroom. *Am J Roentgenol*. 2006;186:52–53.
- 78. Ostertag CB, Sternsdorff HW, Joachim H. Diagnostic possibilities of computerized tomography in forensic examination of cerebral traumatized persons. *Z Rechtsmed*. 1978;82:137–143.
- 79. Ormstad K, Rajs J, Calissendorff B, Ahlberg NE. Difference between in vivo and postmortem distances between anterior chest and heart surface. A combined autopsy and in vivo computerized tomography study. *Am J Forensic Med Pathol.* 1984;5:31–35.
- 80. Wesolowski JR, Lev MH. CT: history, technology, and clinical aspects. *Semin Ultrasound* CT MR. 2005;26:376–379.
- 81. Thali MJ, Yen K, Schweitzer W, et al. Virtopsy, a new imaging horizon in forensic pathology: virtual autopsy by postmortem multislice computed tomography (MSCT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)--a feasibility study. *J Forensic Sci.* 2003;48::386–403.
- 82. Thali MJ, Schweitzer W, Yen K, et al. New horizons in forensic radiology: the 60-second digital autopsy-full-body examination of a gunshot victim by multislice computed tomography. *Am J Forensic Med Pathol.* 2003;24:22–27.
- 83. Thali MJ, Yen K, Vock P, et al.Image-guided virtual autopsy findings of gunshot victims performed with multi-slice computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging and subsequent correlation between radiology and autopsy findings. *Forensic Sci Int.* 2003;138:8–16.
- Thali MJ, Braun M, Wirth J, Vock P, Dirnhofer R. 3D surface and body documentation in forensic medicine: 3-D/CAD Photogrammetry merged with 3D radiological scanning. J Forensic Sci. 2003;48:1356–1365.
- 85. Plattner T, Thali MJ, Yen K, et al. Virtopsy-postmortem multislice computed tomography (MSCT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in a fatal scuba diving incident. *J Forensic Sci.* 2003;48:1347–1355.

- 86. Thali MJ, Taubenreuther U, Karolczak M, et al.Forensic microradiology: micro-computed tomography (Micro-CT) and analysis of patterned injuries inside of bone. *J Forensic Sci.* 2003;48:1336–1342.
- 87. Thali MJ, Yen K, Schweitzer W, Vock P, Ozdoba C, Dirnhofer R. Into the decomposed body-forensic digital autopsy using multislice-computed tomography. *Forensic Sci Int.* 2003;134:109–114.
- 88. Thali MJ, Yen K, Plattner T, Schweitzer W, Vock P, Ozdoba C, Dirnhofer R. Charred body: virtual autopsy with multi-slice computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging. *J Forensic Sci.* 2002;47:1326–1331.
- 89. Thali MJ, Schwab CM, Tairi K, Dirnhofer R, Vock P. Forensic radiology with cross-section modalities: spiral CT evaluation of a knife wound to the aorta. *J Forensic Sci.* 2002;47:1041–1045.
- Levy AD, Abbott RM, Mallak CT, Getz JM, Harcke HT, Champion HR, Pearse LA. Virtual autopsy: preliminary experience in high-velocity gunshot wound victims. *Radiology*. 2006 Aug;240(2):522-8.
- 91. Guthrie CM. New technology and legal challenges that affect 21st century death investigation. Presented at the 32nd Annual Florida Medical Examiners Educational Conference. 2005.
- 92. March J, Schofield D, Evison M, Woodford N. Three-dimensional computer visualization of forensic pathology data. *Am J Forens Med Pathol*.2004;25:60–70.
- 93. Acierno, R. et al. Prevalence and correlates of emotional, physical, and financial abuse and potential neglect in the United States: The National Elder Mistreatment Study. Am J Publ Health. 2010;100:292–297.
- 94. Mixson PM. Public policy, elder abuse, and Adult Protective Services: the struggle for coherence. *J Elder Abuse Negl.* 2010;22:16–36.
- 95. Teaster PB, Wangmo T, Anetzberger GJ. A glass half full: the dubious history of elder abuse policy. *J Elder Abuse Negl*. 2010;22:6–15.
- 96. Cox K. The application of crime science to the prevention of elder abuse. Br J Nurs. 2008;17:850–854.
- 97. Cooper C, Selwood A, Livingston G. The prevalence of elder abuse and neglect: a systematic review. *Age Ageing*. 2008;37:151–160.
- 98. Cooper C, Selwood A, Livingston G. Knowledge, detection, and reporting of abuse by health and social care professionals: a systematic review. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2009;17:826–838.
- 99. Lindbloom EJ, Brandt J, Hough LD, Meadows SE. Elder mistreatment in the nursing home: a systematic review. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*. 2007;8:610–616.
- 100. Gnanadesigan N, Fung CH. Quality indicators for screening and prevention in vulnerable elders. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2007;55 Suppl 2:S417–S423.
- 101. Killick C, Taylor BJ. Professional decision making on elder abuse: systematic narrative review. *J Elder Abuse Negl.* 2009;21:211–238.

- 102. Ploeg J, Fear J, Hutchison B, MacMillan H, Bolan G. A systematic review of interventions for elder abuse. *J Elder Abuse Negl.* 2009;21:187–210.
- 103. Brozowski K, Hall DR. Aging and risk: physical and sexual abuse of elders in Canada. J Interpers Violence. 2010;25:1183–1199.
- 104. Erlingsson CL. Searching for elder abuse: a systematic review of database citations. *J Elder Abuse Negl*. 2007;19:59–78.
- 105. Naik AD, Teal CR, Pavlik VN, Dyer CB, McCullough LB. Conceptual challenges and practical approaches to screening capacity for self-care and protection in vulnerable older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2008;56 Suppl 2:S266–S270.
- 106. Dyer CB, Franzini L, Watson M, Sanchez L, Prati L, Mitchell S, Wallace R, Pickens S. Future research: a prospective longitudinal study of elder self-neglect. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2008;56 Suppl 2:S261–S265.
- 107. Kelly PA, Dyer CB, Pavlik V, Doody R, Jogerst G. Exploring self-neglect in older adults: preliminary findings of the self-neglect severity scale and next steps. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2008;56 Suppl 2:S253–S560.
- 108. Connolly MT. Elder self-neglect and the justice system: an essay from an interdisciplinary perspective. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2008;56 Suppl 2:S244–S252.
- 109. Fulmer T. Barriers to neglect and self-neglect research. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2008;56 Suppl 2:S241–S243.
- 110. Kaye LW, Kay D, Crittenden JA. Intervention with abused older males: conceptual and clinical perspectives. *J Elder Abuse Negl*. 2007;19:153–172.
- 111. Blundo R, Bullington J. Abuse of elderly male client: efforts and experiences in rural and urban adult protective services. *J Elder Abuse Negl.* 2007;19:173–191.
- 112. Thompson EH Jr, Buxton W, Gough PC, Wahle C. Gendered policies and practices that increase older men's risk of elder mistreatment. *J Elder Abuse Negl.* 2007;19:129–151.
- 113. Desmarais SL, Reeves KA. Gray, black, and blue: the state of research and intervention for intimate partner abuse among elders. *Behav Sci Law.* 2007;25:377–391.
- 114. Falk E, Landsverk E, Mosqueda L, Olsen BJ, Schneider DC, Bernatz S, Wood S. Geriatricians and psychologists: essential ingredients in the evaluation of elder abuse and neglect. *J Elder Abuse Negl*. 2010;22:281–290.
- 115. Schneider DC, Mosqueda L, Falk E, Huba GJ. Elder abuse forensic centers. J Elder Abuse Negl. 2010;22:255–274.
- 116. Navarro AE, Wilber KH, Yonashiro J, Homeier DC. Do we really need another meeting? Lessons from the Los Angeles County Elder Abuse Forensic Center. *Gerontologist*. 2010;50:702–711.
- 117. Collins KA, Presnell SE. Elder neglect and the pathophysiology of aging. *Am J Forensic Med Pathol*. 2007;28:157–162.
- 118. Cha JG, Kim DH, Kim DH, Paik SH, Park JS, Park SJ, Lee HK, Hong HS, Choi DL, Yang KM, Chung NE, Lee BW, Seo JS. Utility of postmortem autopsy via whole-body imaging:

initial observations comparing MDCT and 3.0 T MRI findings with autopsy findings. *Korean J Radiol.* 2010;11:395–406.

- 119. Owais AE, Wilson TR, Khan SA, Jaidev J, Renwick I, Mitchell C, Macfie J. Could premortem computerised tomography scans reduce the need for coroner's post-mortem examinations? *Ann R Coll Surg Engl.* 2010;92:422–424.
- 120. Filograna L, Tartaglione T, Filograna E, Cittadini F, Oliva A, Pascali VL. Computed tomography (CT) virtual autopsy and classical autopsy discrepancies: radiologist's error or a demonstration of post-mortem multi-detector computed tomography (MDCT) limitation? *Forensic Sci Int.* 2010;195:e13–e17.
- 121. Jacobsen C, Lynnerup N. Craniocerebral trauma--congruence between post-mortem computed tomography diagnoses and autopsy results: a 2-year retrospective study. *Forensic Sci Int.* 2010;194:9–14.
- 122. Jacobsen C, Bech BH, Lynnerup N. A comparative study of cranial, blunt trauma fractures as seen at medicolegal autopsy and by computed tomography. *BMC Med Imaging*. 2009;9:18.
- 123. Zheng J, Liu NG, Chen YJ. [The application of computed tomography (CT) in postmortem examination]. *Fa Yi Xue Za Zhi*. 2009;25:286–289. Chinese.
- 124. Li HJ, Gao YQ, Cheng JL, Zhang YZ. Diagnostic imaging, preautopsy imaging and autopsy findings of. *Chin Med J (Engl)*. 2009;122:2142–2148.
- Scholing M, Saltzherr TP, Fung Kon Jin PH, Ponsen KJ, Reitsma JB, Lameris JS, Goslings JC. The value of postmortem computed tomography as an alternative for autopsy in trauma victims: a systematic review. *Eur Radiol.* 2009;19:2333–2341.
- 125. Woźniak K, Urbanik A, Moskała A, Chrzan R, Kamieniecka B. [Skull fractures-acomparison of clinical CT and autopsy findings]. *Arch Med Sadowej Kryminol*. 2008;58:188–193.
- 126. Christe A, Ross S, Oesterhelweg L, Spendlove D, Bolliger S, Vock P, Thali MJ. Abdominal trauma--sensitivity and specificity of postmortem noncontrast imaging findings compared with autopsy findings. J Trauma. 2009;66:1302–1307.
- 127. Persson A, Jackowski C, Engström E, Zachrisson H. Advances of dual source, dual-energy imaging in postmortem CT. *Eur J Radiol*. 2008;68:446–455.
- 128. Aghayev E, Christe A, Sonnenschein M, Yen K, Jackowski C, Thali MJ, Dirnhofer R, Vock P. Postmortem imaging of blunt chest trauma using CT and MRI: comparison with autopsy. *J Thorac Imaging*. 2008;23:20–27.
- 129. Leth PM, Christoffersen S. [Computerized tomography in forensic autopsies]. Ugeskr Laeger. 2008;170:444–447
- 130. Ebert LC, Ptacek W, Naether S, Fürst M, Ross S, Buck U, Weber S, Thali M. Virtobot--a multi-functional robotic system for 3D surface scanning and automatic post mortem biopsy. *Int J Med Robot.* 2010;6:18–27.

- 131. Ross S, Spendlove D, Bolliger S, Christe A, Oesterhelweg L, Grabherr S, Thali MJ, Gygax E. Postmortem whole-body CT angiography: evaluation of two contrast media solutions. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 2008;190:1380–1389.
- 132. Jackowski C, Persson A, Thali MJ. Whole body postmortem angiography with a high viscosity contrast agent solution using poly ethylene glycol as contrast agent dissolver. J *Forensic Sci.* 2008;53:465–468.
- 133. Mitka M. CT, MRI scans offer new tools for autopsy. JAMA. 2007;298:392–393.
- 134. Pohlenz P, Blessmann M, Oesterhelweg L, Habermann CR, Begemann PG, Schmidgunst C, Blake F, Schulze D, Püschel K, Schmelzle R, Heiland M. 3D C-arm as an alternative modality to CT in postmortem imaging: technical feasibility. *Forensic Sci Int.* 2008;175:134–139.
- 135. Ruder TD, Hatch GM, Thali MJ, Fischer N. One small scan for radiology, one giant leap for forensic medicine Post-mortem imaging replaces forensic autopsy in a case of traumatic aortic laceration. *Leg Med* (Tokyo). 2010 Dec 4. [Epubahead of print]
- 136. Grabherr S, Doenz F, Steger B, Dirnhofer R, Dominguez A, Sollberger B, Gygax E, Rizzo E, Chevallier C, Meuli R, Mangin P. Multi-phase post-mortem CT angiography: development of a standardized protocol. *Int J Legal Med.* 2010 Nov 7. [Epub ahead of print]
- 137. Filograna L, Bolliger SA, Ross SG, Ruder T, Thali MJ. Pros and cons of post-mortem CT imaging on aspiration diagnosis. *Leg Med* (Tokyo). 2010 Oct 26. [Epub ahead of print]
- 138. Bolliger SA, Filograna L, Spendlove D, Thali MJ, Dirnhofer S, Ross S. Postmortem imaging-guided biopsy as an adjuvant to minimally invasive autopsy with CT and postmortem angiography: a feasibility study. *AJR Am J Roentgenol*. 2010;195:1051–1056.
- 139. Christe A, Flach P, Ross S, Spendlove D, Bolliger S, Vock P, Thali MJ. Clinical radiology and postmortem imaging (Virtopsy) are not the same: Specific and unspecific postmortem signs. *Leg Med* (Tokyo). 2010;12:215–222.
- 140. Sohail S, Mirza FH, Khan QS. Postmortem computed tomography for diagnosis of cause of death in male prisoners. *J Pak Med Assoc*. 2010;60:4–8.
- 141. Leth PM. Computerized tomography used as a routine procedure at postmortem investigations. *Am J Forensic Med Pathol.* 2009;30:219–222.
- 142. O'Donnell C, Woodford N. Post-mortem radiology--a new sub-speciality? *Clin Radiol.* 2008;63:1189–1194.
- 143. Rutty GN, Morgan B, O'Donnell C, Leth PM, Thali M. Forensic institutes across the world place CT or MRI scanners or both into their mortuaries. *J Trauma*. 2008;65:493–494.
- 144. Aghayev E, Staub L, Dirnhofer R, Ambrose T, Jackowski C, Yen K, Bolliger S, Christe A, Roeder C, Aebi M, Thali MJ. Virtopsy - the concept of a centralized database in forensic medicine for analysis and comparison of radiological and autopsy data. *J Forensic Leg Med.* 2008;15:135–140.
- 145. Soerdjbalie-Maikoe V, van Rijn RR. Embryology, normal anatomy, and imaging techniques of the hyoid and larynx with respect to forensic purposes: a review article. *Forensic Sci Med Pathol.* 2008;4:132–139.

- 146. O'Donnell CJ, Baker MA. Postmortem CT findings of gastromalacia: a trap for the radiologist with forensic interest. *Forensic Sci Med Pathol.* 2010;6:293–297.
- 147. Weustink AC, Hunink MG, van Dijke CF, Renken NS, Krestin GP, Oosterhuis JW. Minimally invasive autopsy: an alternative to conventional autopsy? *Radiology*.2009;250:897–904.
- 148. Thomsen AH, Jurik AG, Uhrenholt L, Vesterby A. An alternative approach to computerized tomography (CT) in forensic pathology. *Forensic Sci Int.* 2009;183:87–90.
- 149. Molina DK, Dimaio VJ. The sensitivity of computed tomography (CT) scans in detecting trauma: are CT scans reliable enough for courtroom testimony? *J Trauma*. 2008;65:1206–1207.
- 150. Molina DK, Nichols JJ, Dimaio VJ. The sensitivity of computed tomography (CT) scans in detecting trauma: are CT scans reliable enough for courtroom testimony? *J Trauma*. 2007;63:625–629.
- 151. Poulsen K, Simonsen J. [CT-scanning as a routine examination before Medico-Legal autopsy]. Ugeskr Laeger. 2007;169:3298–3299. Danish.
- 152. Poulsen K, Simonsen J. Computed tomography as routine in connection with medico-legal autopsies. *Forensic Sci Int.* 2007;171:190–197.
- 153. Berens S, Ketterer T, Kneubuehl BP, Thali MJ, Ross S, Bolliger SA. A case of homicidal intraoral gunshot and review of the literature. *Forensic Sci Med Pathol.* 2010 Nov 13. [Epub ahead of print]
- 154. Bassed RB, Hill AJ. The use of computed tomography (CT) to estimate age in the 2009 Victorian Bushfire Victims: A case report. *Forensic Sci Int.* 2010 Sep 26. [Epub ahead of print]
- 155. Woźniak K, Urbanik A, Rzepecka-Woźniak E, Moskała A, Kłys M. [Postmortem CT examination in a case of alleged drowning--a case report]. *Arch Med Sadowej Kryminol*. 2009;59:330–336.
- 156. Ampanozi G, Ruder TD, Hatch GM, Bolliger S, Thali MJ. Incidental findings in postmortem CT: Calcified ligamentum arteriosum. *Leg Med* (Tokyo). 2010;12:313–315.
- 157. Steffen R, Suter C, Patricia F, Lars O, Michael T, Stephan B. Multi-slice computed tomography (MSCT) of mountaineering casualties in the Swiss Alps–Advantages and limitations. *Leg Med* (Tokyo). 2010;12:271–275.
- 158. O'Donnell C, Iino M, Mansharan K, Leditscke J, Woodford N. Contribution of postmortem multidetector CT scanning to identification of the deceased in a mass disaster: Experience gained from the 2009 Victorian bushfires. *Forensic Sci Int.* 2010 Aug 4. [Epub ahead of print]
- 159. Dreiangel N, Ben-Galim P, Lador R, Hipp JA. Occipitocervical dissociative injuries: common in blunt trauma fatalities and better detected with objective computed tomography-based measurements. *Spine J.* 2010;10:704–707.
- 160. Cha JG, Kim DH, Kim DH, Paik SH, Park JS, Park SJ, Lee HK, Hong HS, Choi DL, Yang KM, Chung NE, Lee BW, Seo JS. Utility of postmortem autopsy via whole-body imaging:
initial observations comparing MDCT and 3.0 T MRI findings with autopsy findings. *Korean J Radiol.* 2010;11:395–406.

- 161. Iwase H, Yajima D, Hayakawa M, Yamamoto S, Motani H, Sakuma A, Kasahara S, Ito H. Evaluation of computed tomography as a screening test for death inquest. *J Forensic Sci.* 2010;55:1509–1515.
- 162. Filograna L, Bolliger SA, Spendlove D, Schön C, Flach PM, Thali MJ. Diagnosis of fatal pulmonary fat embolism with minimally invasive virtual autopsy and post-mortem biopsy. *Leg Med* (Tokyo).;12:233–237.
- 163. Ampanozi G, Ruder TD, Preiss U, Aschenbroich K, Germerott T, Filograna L, Thali MJ. Virtopsy: CT and MR imaging of a fatal head injury caused by a hatchet: A case report. *Leg Med* (Tokyo). 2010;12:238–241.
- 164. Iino M, O'Donnell C. Postmortem computed tomography findings of upper airway obstruction by food. *J Forensic Sci.* 2010;55:1251–1258.
- 165. Ruder TD, Ross S, Preiss U, Thali MJ. Minimally invasive post-mortem CT-angiography in a case involving a gunshot wound. *Leg Med* (Tokyo). 2010;12:154–156.
- 166. Aghayev E, Jackowski C, Christe A, Thali M. Radiopaque stomach contents in postmortem CT in suicidal oral medication intoxication: report of three cases. *J Forensic Leg Med.* 2010;17:164–168.
- 167. Christoffersen S. CT verified cause of death in hepatic hydrothorax without ascites. *Forensic Sci Int.* 2010;198:e11–13.
- 168. Michiue T, Ishikawa T, Sakoda S, Quan L, Li DR, Kamikodai Y, Okazaki S, Zhu BL, Maeda H. Cardiothoracic ratio in postmortem chest radiography with regard to the cause of death. *Leg Med* (Tokyo). 2010;12:73–78.
- 169. Wozniak K, Moskała A, Urbanik A, Kłys M. [Postmortem CT examination with 3D reconstruction in cases referring to casualties of traffic accidents]. *Arch Med Sadowej Kryminol.* 2009;59:93–100.
- 170. Wozniak K, Moskała A, Urbanik A, Kłys M. [Postmortem CT examination with 3D reconstruction in gunshot and post explosion injuries]. *Arch Med Sadowej Kryminol.* 2009;59:85–92.
- 171. Kobayashi Z, Tsuchiya K, Yokota O, Haga C, Arai T, Akiyama H, Kotera M, Mizusawa H. Japanese encephalitis serial CT findings and neuropathology in an autopsy case. *Clin Neuropathol.* 2009;28:422–429.
- 172. Folio RL, Harcke HT, Luzi SA. Aircraft mishap investigation with radiology-assisted autopsy: helicopter crash with control injury. *Aviat Space Environ Med.* 2009;80:400–404.
- 173. Iwase H, Yamamoto S, Yajima D, Hayakawa M, Kobayashi K, Otsuka K, Sato K, Motani H, Kasahara S, Ito H. Can cervical spine injury be correctly diagnosed by postmortem computed tomography? *Leg Med* (Tokyo). 2009;11:168–174.
- 174. Iino M, O'Donnell CJ, Burke MP. Post-mortem CT findings following intentional ingestion of mercuric chloride. *Leg Med* (Tokyo). 2009;11:136–138.

- Dedouit F, Sévely A, Costagliola R, Otal P, Loubes-Lacroix F, Manelfe C, Joffre F, Rougé D, Telmon N. Reversal sign on ante- and postmortem brain imaging in a newborn: report of one case. *Forensic Sci Int.* 2008;182:e11–e14.
- 175. Añon J, Remonda L, Spreng A, Scheurer E, Schroth G, Boesch C, Thali M, Dirnhofer R, Yen K. Traumatic extra-axial hemorrhage: correlation of postmortem MSCT, MRI, and forensic-pathological findings. *J Magn Reson Imaging*. 2008;28:823–836.
- 176. Fornaro G, Lazzero M, Giacalone A, Aralda D, Prando MD, Rossi L, Bongo AS. [Death after ST-elevation myocardial infarction in patients treated with fibrinolytic therapy, angioplasty, or conventional therapy. A post-mortem study to verify cardiac rupture as a cause of death]. *G Ital Cardiol* (Rome). 2008;9:408–420.
- 177. Stawicki SP, Gracias VH, Schrag SP, Martin ND, Dean AJ, Hoey BA. The dead continue to teach the living: examining the role of computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging in the setting of postmortem examinations. *J Surg Educ.* 200865:200–205.
- 178. Ross S, Spendlove D, Bolliger S, Christe A, Oesterhelweg L, Grabherr S, Thali MJ, Gygax E. Postmortem whole-body CT angiography: evaluation of two contrast media solutions. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 2008;190:1380–1389.
- 179. Jackowski C, Persson A, Thali MJ. Whole body postmortem angiography with a high viscosity contrast agent solution using poly ethylene glycol as contrast agent dissolver. *J Forensic Sci.* 2008;53:465–468.
- 180. Leth PM, Christoffersen S. [Computerized tomography in forensic autopsies]. Ugeskr Laeger. 2008;170:444–447.
- 181. Manninen H, Tulla H, Vanninen R, Ronkainen A. Endangered cerebral blood supply after closure of left subclavian artery: postmortem and clinical imaging studies. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2008;85:120–125.
- 182. Levy G, Goldstein L, Blachar A, Apter S, Barenboim E, Bar-Dayan Y, Shamis A, Atar E. Postmortem computed tomography in victims of military air mishaps: radiological-pathological correlation of CT findings. *Isr Med Assoc J.* 2007;9:699–702.
- 183. Levy AD, Harcke HT, Getz JM, Mallak CT, Caruso JL, Pearse L, Frazier AA, Galvin JR. Virtual autopsy: two- and three-dimensional multidetector CT findings in drowning with autopsy comparison. *Radiology*. 2007;243:862–868.
- 184. Yen K, Lövblad KO, Scheurer E, Ozdoba C, Thali MJ, Aghayev E, Jackowski C, Anon J, Frickey N, Zwygart K, Weis J, Dirnhofer R. Post-mortem forensic neuroimaging: correlation of MSCT and MRI findings with autopsy results. *Forensic Sci Int.* 2007;173:21–35.
- 185. Aghayev E, Thali MJ, Sonnenschein M, Jackowski C, Dirnhofer R, Vock P. Post-mortem tissue sampling using computed tomography guidance. *Forensic Sci Int.* 2007;166:199–203.
- 186. Dong XQ, Simon MA. Enhancing National Policy and Programs to Address Elder Abuse. JAMA. 2011;305:2460-2461.

VI. Appendices:

1. PMCT data collection form template (see attached pdf file)

2. IRB Exemption (see attached pdf file)

3. Archiving of decedent image datasets Information: Complete datasets of al PMCT studies have been submitted to Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research (ICPSR) National Archive of Criminal Justice Data (NACJD)

All studies are in DICOM format on CD/DVD with an inbuilt reader program.

4. Dissemination strategy.

In keeping with Primary aim 5 of our study, the following presentations and publications

in peer-reviewed journals have been or will be undertaken to disseminate information on

the findings of the study:

Presentations: To date the results of the study (in part or in full) have been

presented as follows:

Knight N, Daly B, Fowler, DF. Whole-body CT imaging in post mortem detection of elder abuse and neglect. National Institute of Justice Elder Abuse Workshop: Elder Abuse Forensics, Reports from Current or Recently Completed Research Projects. February 25–27, 2008; Washington, DC. (preliminary activities)

Daly B. Panel participant. Is it old age, abuse, or homicide? Using forensic markers and technology to detect elder abuse and neglect. National Institute of Justice Conference. Washington, DC; 2009. (preliminary results)

Daly BD, Lin S, Ali Z, Lu M, Archer-Arroyo K, Sliker CW, Fowler DF. Utility of whole-body post mortem computed tomography imaging in detection of elder abuse and neglect: comparison with and potential substitution for standard autopsy. Presented at the annual meeting of the Radiological Society of North America. Chicago, IL, December 2010. (interim results)

Ali Z, Daly B, Knight N, Fowler DR. Utility of whole-body post mortem computed tomography imaging in detection of elder abuse: comparison with and potential substitution for standard autopsy. Presented at the annual meeting of the American Academy of Forensic Sciences. Chicago, IL, February 2011. (interim results)

Daly BD, Lin S, Ali Z, Lu M, Archer-Arroyo K, Sliker CW, Fowler DF. Utility of whole-body post mortem computed tomography imaging in detection of elder abuse and neglect: comparison with and potential substitution for standard autopsy. To be presented at the annual meeting of the National Association of Medical Examiners. Seattle, WA, August 2011 (final results).

Dissemination of Scanning protocol: The scanning protocol will also be published and made available on both the University of Maryland Department of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine Web site and the Maryland OCME Web site. The protocol is easily reproducible on any modern era multidetector CT scanner.

Future Publications *Peer-reviewed* (currently in preparation):

Utility of whole-body post mortem computed tomography imaging in detection of elder abuse and neglect: comparison with and potential substitution for standard autopsy. A manuscript in preparation for submission to *Academic Forensic Pathology*.

Musculoskeletal findings at whole-body post mortem computed tomography imaging for suspected elder abuse and neglect: comparison with standard autopsy. A manuscript in preparation for submission to *the American Journal of Roentgenology*.

Trade, non-peer-reviewed, and outreach.

Forensics go high-tech with CT autopsies. *Science Daily*. November 28, 2007. Available at: http://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2007/11/071127111143.htm. Accessed on May 17, 2011.

Maryland researchers report positive results for CT scans as alternative to autopsy: investigators explore applications of image-assisted autopsy in cases of traumatic death and possible elderly abuse. University of Maryland School of Medicine press release, November 27, 2007. Available at: http://www.umm.edu/news/releases/virtual_autopsy.htm. Accessed on May 17, 2011

Roylance FD. Scan may serve in knifeless autopsy. *Baltimore Sun*. November 28, 2007; page B1.

Scanning the dead: forensics go high tech with CT autopsies. *RT Image*. April 14, 2008. Available at: http://www.rt-

image.com/Scanning_the_Dead_Forensics_go_high_tech_with_CT_autopsies/co ntent=8804J05C485E588640B698764440A0441. Accessed on May 17, 2011.

Post-mortem CT aids in detecting suspected elder abuse. *RSNA News*. March 2010. Available at: http://www.rsna.org/Publications/rsnanews/March-2011/post-mortem_CT_feature.cfm. Accessed on May 17, 2011.



MEMORANDUM

To: Barry Daly, M.D.

Cc: Miek Siegers

From: UMB Institutional Review Board (IRB)

Re: "Virtual Autopsy Using 3 Dimensional CT and MRI Imaging"

Date: July 6, 2006

The IRB reviewed the information provided and determined that the protocol does not require IRB review. This determination has been made with the understanding that the proposed project is a scientific research project, which does not involve participation or information from human subjects and therefore is not a human subject research project.

Human subject is defined as "A living individual about whom an Investigator (whether professional or student) conducting research obtains either: data through intervention or interaction with the individual or identifiable private information. These individuals could be patients, healthy volunteers, students, employees, and/or members of the community." This project involves patients declared dead in the UMMC Emergency Room or Shock Trauma Admitting Unit who are the subjects of a medical examiners investigation. Therefore, this project involves deceased individuals receiving non-invasive CT and/or no-contrast MRI prior to the autopsy and does not require IRB oversight.

Please keep a copy of this letter for future reference. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact the Human Research Protections Office at (410) 706-5037.

Robert Edelman, M.D.

Robert Edelman, M.D. Chairman, UMB IRB



Medical Examiner ID# _____

MRN: Date of scan:

Age: Gender:

Time of death: Time of scan:







Post Mortem CT – Elder Abuse Protocol

MRN: _____

Time of Death:

Date of scan: ____/___/____

Age:

Time of Scan:

Body Storage Temperature (if known)

Gender:

Clinical History:





Forensic Imaging Study

Police Report/ Clinical History:

Major CT Diagnosis

Vital Reactions (subcutaneous emphysema, blood or food aspiration):

Cause of Death (if determined by CT):





Major CT Diagnosis

Regional Findings: Head: Fracture? Yes or No Bleed? Yes or No Infarcts? Yes or No Other findings? Spine: Decubitus sacral region ulcers? Yes or No Decubitus ischeal tuberosity region ulcers? Yes or No Complicated by osteomyelitis? Yes or No Other findings?





Chest:

Rib fractures? Yes or No

Pneumothorax? Yes or No

Heart failure/cardiomegaly? Yes or No

Aspiration/ Bronchopneumonia? Yes or No

Other findings?

Abdomen & Pelvis:

Abdominal organ injuries? Yes or No

Intra-abdominal fluid or hemorrhage? Yes or No

Other findings?





Upper Limbs:

Fractures? Yes or No

Other findings?

Lower Limbs:

Fractures? Yes or No

Other findings?





Other Comments:

Major CT Diagnosis cont.

Vital Reactions:





Cause of Death (if this can be determined from PMCT):

Imaging Record

Imaging Procedure: The protocol and the imaging study must be recorded. All data from the study must be archived immediately at the end of the study and the data integrity must be checked before finishing the scan.

Protocol Name:		(If protocol	is modified note changes on back of page.)
Study Data Set Name:			
Time Collection begun (hhmm)):		
Check if complete: Data Transferred:	Data Archived:]	3D Images Generated:
Standard Protocol Used:	Images Stored on	PACS:	Thin Data Stored on TERA Research Server:

Record any problem that may influence data analysis.





Notes on data collection:

Radiologist:

1._____

2._____

Notes: